University of Alberta

The Role of Entrepreneurship in Canadian Economic Growth

by

Lukas Matejovsky

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Agricultural and Resource Economics

> > Department of Rural Economy

©Lukas Matejovsky Spring 2010 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Examining Committee

Sandeep Mohapatra, Department of Rural Economy Bodo Steiner, Department of Rural Economy Corinne Langinier, Department of Economics

Dedication

To my grandmother - Věnováno Babičce-Karličce

Abstract

Regional income disparity continues to be a source of major concern for Canadian policymakers. This study explores the temporal pattern of income disparity for Canadian provinces, and seeks to identify the role of one particular determinant – entrepreneurship – in explaining regional economic growth. The neoclassical growth framework is applied to a set of panel data drawn from Canadian provinces. An econometric model is applied to test for convergence and to identify the role of entrepreneurship in determining growth. The estimation results suggest that entrepreneurship plays a significant role in regional development in Canada. A dynamic vector autoregression (VAR) model is employed to predict the long-run effects of entrepreneurial policy changes on regional development. The dynamic estimation results suggest that entrepreneurship has long term stimulative effects on regional development in Canada. These findings, while important from a policymakers' perspective, have surprisingly gone unnoticed.

Acknowledgements

I have been most fortunate to have worked with and received the advice from notable economists on this project. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors Sandeep Mohapatra and Bodo Steiner for all the encouragement, guidance, leadership, wise advise and enthusiastic support; not only in the beginning this journey but for being there throughout and assuring its completion. I will be forever grateful for the excellent quality training in research that I received from them. In addition, I would like to thank Inessa Love from the Development Research Group at the World Bank for allowing me to use her program codes for STATA software.

Many thanks go out to the staff and students in the Department of Rural Economy for all their help and support that made my experience so memorable. I am very grateful to meet many wonderful people here. Also I would like to extend my thanks to few individuals who have helped me to pursue a path to become an agricultural and resource economist – Paul Jelen, Peter Boxal and Ellen Goddard.

Finally, I wish to thank my friends (especially Katherine, Eugene, Chris, Daniel(s) and David), and most importantly to my family for all the support and encouragement and for being there for me when I needed. My sincere thanks to you all.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Objectives	5
1.3 Data and methods	6
1.4 Thesis outline	8
CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW	9
2.1 Convergence in the economic literature	9
2.1.1 Review of the Solow model with human capital	
2.1.2 Application to Canada	
2.2. The role of entrepreneurship in the economy	27
2.2.1 Innovation and entrepreneurship	
2.2.2 Linking entrepreneurship to economic growth	
2.2.3 The link between entrepreneurship (self-employment) and unemp	oloyment 33
2.2.4 Entrepreneurship and the creation of new employment	
2.3 Empirical evidence of entrepreneurship in Canada	37
2.3.1 Self-employment in the Canadian economy	
2.3.2 The nature of Canadian self-employment	
2.3.3 Small businesses and the urban-rural divide	
CHAPTER 3 – DATA AND DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	
3. 1 Data source and description	49
3.2 Descriptive statistics	53
3.3 Self-employment – Push or Pull?: A correlation analysis	61
CHAPTER 4 – REGIONAL CONVERGENCE ANALYSIS	65
4.1 Empirical model	65

4.2 Panel data estimators - fixed and random effects models	71
4.3 Estimation strategy	73
4.4 Results of econometric models	74
4.6 The effect of growth determinants on convergence	78
CHAPTER 5 – VECTOR AUTOREGRESSION ANALYSIS	
5.1 Introduction to the VAR methodology	80
5.2 Background of the VAR methodology	82
5.3 The impulse response function	84
5.4 Estimating VAR with panel data	86
5.5 Model specification and estimation results	87
5.5.1 Estimation results	88
CHAPTER 6 – CONCLUSIONS	94
6.1 Summary	94
6.2 Policy implications	95
6.3 Limitations and future research	97
REFERENCES:	

List of Tables:

Table 1. Three types of entrepreneurs
Table 2. Disaggregated self-employment according to class of self-employed worker andthe goods-producing sector and services producing sector based on the North AmericanIndustry Classification System (NAICS)
Table 3. Average growth rate and share of class of self-employed worker, Canada, 1976 –2007
Table 4. The average growth rate and share of self employment across industry sectors,based on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS), Canada, 1987 –2007
Table 5. Variable definitions, descriptive statistics and predicted signs
Table 6. Tests for different econometric models 78
Table 7. Residual correlation matrix
Table 8. Panel VAR regression results 92

List of Figures:

Figure 1. Total Self Employment as percentage of total employment, in Canada (1976 – 2007)
Figure 2. Relationship between per capita GDP growth rate 1981 - 2007, and per capita GDP in 2007 for all provinces including Canada
Figure 3. Annual total self-employment rate for all provinces and all industries, including Canada as a whole, 1976 – 2007
Figure 4. Agricultural self-employment as a percentage of total employment across all provinces, including Canada as a whole, 1987 – 2007
Figure 5. Non agricultural self-employment as a percentage of total employment across all provinces, including Canada as a whole, 1987 – 2007
Figure 6. Non-agricultural self-employment and unemployment in Canada 1987 – 2007, including correlation coefficients by province
Figure 7. Indices for the number of paid employees and non-agricultural self-employed (1987 = 100) from 1987 to 2007
Figure 8. Estimated coefficients on initial GDP in 1987 for different econometric models
Figure 9. The impulse-responses function for GDP and self-employment. Response of GDP to self-employment shock
Figure 10. The impulse-responses function for GDP and migration. Response of GDP to migration shock
Figure 11. The impulse-responses function for GDP and trade. Response of GDP to trade shock

Chapter 1- Introduction

"Once you start thinking about economic growth, it is hard to think about anything else."

Robert E. Lucas (1988, p.5), Nobel Laureate and professor of economics at the University of Chicago.

1.1 Background

Regional income disparity has been a long standing concern to Canadian policymakers and economists (McInnis, 1968; Lee, 1996; Coulombe, 2003; Beckstead and Brown, 2005). Since the mid 1920s, regions (provinces) of Canada have faced large disparities in income, and this trend has persisted through time (McInnis, 1968). Canada had the highest level of regional income inequality among all other developed countries during the 1950s and the 1960s (Williamson, 1965). While there is some dispute regarding its evolution, income disparity across Canadian regions during the beginning of 1990s was still about 50 percent higher than income disparity in comparable regions in the United States (Coulombe and Day, 1999; Coulombe, 1999).¹

Although the nature of the evolution of disparities continues to be a subject of debate, there is a consensus that regional income disparities in Canada are problematic from both an economic as well as a public policy perspective. From an economic perspective, disparities in income across Canadian provinces hinder economic growth, productivity, knowledge transfer and innovation. From a public policy perspective, regional inequalities create frictions between provinces over federal budget and public policy priorities. Regional income disparities reflect differences in the fiscal capacity of

¹ Some scholars believe the income disparities have declined across Canadian provinces after World War II (Coulombe and Lee, 1995).

provincial governments and result in differing aggregate levels of public services (such as education, health and social assistance) and taxation (see Cameron, 1981). This implies that Canadians would have differential access to public services based on the income levels of their province of residence.

The overall goal of this thesis is to empirically study regional disparity in Canada and its evolution over time. Two strands of the recent literature motivate this thesis: first, the literature which emphasizes the critical role of entrepreneurship (small self-employed businesses) in accentuating regional growth in developed economies but one that has been ignored in the context of Canada's economy; and second, recent advances in the methodology for studying growth process based on panel growth regressions and dynamic panel vector autoregression analysis which allow us to both identify whether or not entrepreneurship contributes to growth and to predict the long-run effects of deliberate changes in entrepreneurship on economic development.

The first strand of the literature that motivates this study concerns the role of entrepreneurship in regional growth. Entrepreneurship has long been designated an "engine of growth" role by classical economists (Schumpeter, 1947). More recently, there has been a surge in theoretical and empirical models highlighting entrepreneurship in small businesses as the *single* most important factor in stimulating regional growth, and in helping poor regions that were initially left behind to catch up with more developed ones (e.g., Acs et al, 2005; Audretsch and Fritsch, 1994). Entrepreneurship plays a significant role in the process of identifying and pursuing innovations as well as in creating diversity of knowledge (Audretsch and Keilbach, 2006). Entrepreneurship could

thus be seen as the missing link between investment in new knowledge (human capital) and economic growth.

However, studies of convergence in Canada, while focusing on determinants of economic growth (e.g., government transfers, capital and education) have completely ignored the critical role potentially played by entrepreneurship. Previous studies of regional growth in Canada are based on the neoclassical theory of growth developed by Solow (1956), which has been empirically formalized by Barro (1991) (Coulombe, 2000; Lee, 1996; Sign 2002). In this approach, entrepreneurship plays no role in the short or long run growth of economies.

To fill this gap in the literature, this thesis explicitly accounts for entrepreneurship in the economic growth process. To do so, it employs a "Barro regression framework" after augmenting it with an entrepreneurship variable. This extension is deemed specifically important for the Canadian economy, where entrepreneurship has been one of the strongest labor market trends relative to the paid employment sector. Since the late 1970s the number self-employed as a proportion of total employment has increased by 27% in Canada, rising from 12.2% in 1976 to 15.5% in 2007; while the paid employment sector increased only by 4.8% in the same time period (Statistics Canada, 2008; Author's own computations).

The second strand of literature that motivates this thesis concerns the empirical framework of dynamic modeling techniques that can be used to examine the relationship between entrepreneurship and regional incomes in Canada. The main focus of this framework is to apply panel regressions, and panel vector autoregression (VAR) model to explore endogeneity issues and long term effects of policy changes on entrepreneurship.

3

The panel VAR model is a fairly new econometric innovation and an attractive approach for empirically analyzing and forecasting policy changes. This type of model has become one of the main tools of empirical macroeconomic analysis (Sims, 1980; Blanchard, 1989; Lütkepohl, 1993; Hamilton, 1994; and Mohapatra et al., 1999).

VAR analysis is employed to estimate the *dynamic* impact of entrepreneurship on regional incomes in Canada. The analysis of the dynamic impact of entrepreneurship on regional incomes includes an investigation into the impacts of unexpected shocks or innovations on entrepreneurship (self-employment) and their effect on regional incomes, in terms of future patterns of GDP. The primary focus is to determine whether the impact of entrepreneurship is permanent or temporary. The impact is considered permanent when entrepreneurship continues to have a long run effect on regional incomes over time, that is, a positive entrepreneurship policy shock (e.g., rise in the number of entrepreneurs) has a permanent effect with income showing no tendency to return to its pre-shock level even after several periods. On the other hand, entrepreneurship is a temporary or transient phenomena when marginal increases in entrepreneurship lead to a small change in regional GDP levels with a subsequent disappearance of the impact and without any long run effects. This investigation is critical for a more complete understanding of the role of entrepreneurship in economic growth, considering that economic growth is an inherently dynamic phenomena.

1.2 Objectives

- 1. Describe the pattern of regional growth, entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial (self-employment) sectoral trends, and to separate out different entrepreneurial sectors (e.g., agricultural and non-agricultural, using descriptive statistics).
- Based on the neoclassical growth theory, study regional income disparity in Canada, after accounting for the role of entrepreneurship (using panel regression analysis).
- 3. Based on time series econometric models, study the dynamic relationship between entrepreneurship and economic growth (using vector autoregression analysis).

It is rewarding to focus on the above objectives for several reasons. The results of this research are anticipated to improve our understanding of the entrepreneurial sector of the Canadian economy and their contributions to sustainable regional growth. This research will help to identify what policies are needed to facilitate growth in different regions of Canada, and also contribute to assessing the effectiveness of different policies that are used to correct income disparities, such as income transfers or educational policies (expenditure on higher education).

The analysis is very timely, since increasing pressure from tight federal budgets has led the Canadian government to consider the reduction of regional inequalities as one of its central economic priorities (Finance Canada, 2007).² This focus on regional inequalities has been of long-standing interest to the government, since the balanced

² This is reflected in the 2007-2008 federal budget, which introduces a renewed and stronger equalization program (providing approximately \$1.9 billion more over the next two years than the previous program), to tackle inter-provincial differences in income (Finance Canada, 2007).

development of all regions of Canada in the 1960s (Economic Council of Canada, 1964). In sum, the above objectives have been chosen with a strong focus on policy-relevant issues in mind.

1.3 Data and methods

In order to address the first objective (a description of the pattern of regional growth, entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial sectoral trends), this study draws on data sources from CANSIM II, (Canadian Socio-economic Information Management System), a computerized database provided by Statistics Canada. This database provides annual provincial data from 1976 to 2007³ for 10 provinces viz., Newfoundland (NF), Prince Edward Island (PEI), Nova Scotia (NS), New Brunswick (NB), Quebec (QB), Ontario (ON), Manitoba (MB), Saskatoon (SK), Alberta (AB) and British Columbia (BC). The collected variables include: GDP per capita in 2002 constant prices, provincial population, proportion of provincial population with university education (age 25 and older), labor force for working population between 15 and 64 years, personal savings rate in percentage, depreciation per person in 2002 constant prices, net migration, net trade, unemployment rate in percentage, employment rate in percentage, and self-employment rate in percentage. The dataset also includes an urbanization variable that represents the urban population as a proportion of the total population (in percentage) and a visible minority variable presented as a proportion of total population (in percentage). Both urbanization and visible minority variables are collected for six time periods (1981, 1986, 1991, 1996, 2001, and 2006), from Statistics Canada's Census database.

³ Collected data for GDP per capita in 2002 constant prices are available from 1981 to 2007 and data for different self-employment industry groups are available from 1987 to 2007 from the Statistics Canada.

Based on the data collected, the self-employment variable is further disaggregated into two categories. The first category, the class of self employment, consists of incorporated self-employed with paid or unpaid help, and unincorporated self-employed with paid or unpaid help. The second category of self-employment, industry groups, considers the goods and services sectors of the economy: e.g., agricultural, forestry, energy and other resource-based sectors based on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS). I will specifically focus on the non-agricultural sector and its contribution to productivity and growth of the regions.

In order to address the second objective, this study will explore regional income disparity in Canada accounting for the role of entrepreneurship, applying regression analysis. This approach follows the neoclassical growth theory (Solow, 1956; Barro, 1991). Based on the neoclassical growth theory this study calculates the average growth rate for each region, and then estimates a cross-section regression of the average growth rate (per-capita GDP) on an initial GDP level per capita, and other control variables including entrepreneurship (measured by the number of small self-employed businesses). Convergence is said to exist if there is a negative and significant relationship between the average growth rate of per capita GDP and the initial level of growth. This approach underlies most of the empirical growth literature, and dominates studies of income disparity in Canada.

The last objective of this study is to apply vector autoregression methods in order to study the relationship between entrepreneurship and economic growth. This approach aims to examine GDP patterns in Canada by using a dynamic modeling technique. To do so, this study simulates an unexpected shock in the self-employment rate in order to observe changes in GDP patterns over time, while holding all other shocks constant. These shocks will be summarized using impulse-response functions. The estimated VAR responses will allow an assessment of the extent to which entrepreneurship is enabling Canadian provinces to transition to higher (or lower) GDP regimes.

1.4 Thesis outline

The remainder of the thesis is structured as follows. The second section reviews and discusses literature on the neoclassical Solow growth model and convergence. The convergence literature is followed by an introduction of the role of entrepreneurship in the economy. The literature review concludes with a discussion of empirical evidence of entrepreneurship in Canada. The third section introduces the dataset employed for estimation, and explores a comprehensive overview of the data by presenting descriptive analysis. An analysis of the neoclassical growth model follows in section four, which tests the link between entrepreneurship and economic growth across ten Canadian provinces. Based on dynamic modeling techniques, section five studies the role of entrepreneurship in the economic growth. In particular we apply the vector autoregression methods into our panel dataset to test whether entrepreneurship has a long term dynamic impact on economy. The final section of the thesis summarizes the results and draws conclusions from a policy perspective.

Chapter 2 – Literature Review

2.1 Convergence in the economic literature

Since the mid-1980s, economic growth has been one of the most active fields of research in economics (Jones, 2002). Economic growth is primarily concerned with percapita income growth, technological change and the productive capacity of economies. Large amount of research focuses on how to measure growth in the economy (e.g., Sen, 1988). Standard macroeconomic measures of an economy are usually represented by GDP or GNP in real and per capita form, converted into one currency. Nevertheless it is important to recognize that these measurements can provide biased estimates since they underestimate real income of poor countries and distort GDP comparisons in terms of exchange rates (Ray, 1998). Although no measurement issues will change the fact that income inequality between countries is large, the poorest countries (Baumol, 1986). This begs the question, why is it that some economies are growing more rapidly than others? This section introduces the literature on convergence which discusses the Solow (1956) neoclassical growth model to answer this question.

The standard theoretical model for understanding economic growth of countries or regions within a country is the Solow (1956) growth model. The primary implication of the neoclassical model is a concept of convergence – the prediction that regions that have low initial incomes will grow faster and catch up with economies with high initial incomes. The Solow model assumes diminishing returns to individual factors of production. Since the marginal productivity of capital is decreasing, countries must use more and more units of capital in order to get the same gains in output. Therefore, poor

countries with low ratios of capital to labor have higher marginal productivity of capital than rich countries and hence will grow at faster rates.

Solow's prediction distinguishes between two distinct concepts of convergence – unconditional and conditional. Unconditional convergence means that if initial conditions (that is, savings and depreciation rate, population growth rates) and technological progress are the same for every country then all countries will end up in the same steady state (long run equilibrium), irrespective of their initial levels of per capita income or capital. In other words, history does not matter. Further according to Solow, the common long run growth rates of the per capita income levels will be equal to the rate of technical progress.

Conditional convergence, on the other hand, recognizes that initial conditions may differ across countries, although technical progress is still assumed to be the same. As a result, countries may end up in different long run steady state positions in terms of their per capita income. However, the long run growth rates will be the same. In other words, unlike unconditional convergence, which implies convergence of both growth rate and per capita income levels, conditional convergence implies only convergence in income growth rates.

Both types of convergence provide testable hypotheses. Since unconditional convergence implies that in the short-run, poorer countries will grow faster than richer countries, we anticipate a negative relationship between growth rates and initial per capita income. In case of conditional convergence, the relationship between growth rates and initial per capita income can also be expected to be negative (poorer countries will grow

10

faster than richer countries) after conditioning on the different steady state positions of countries.

Empirical evidence from an extensive and ongoing literature also provides support for the prediction of convergence in particular, and for the Solow model more generally. The hypothesis of unconditional convergence is typically tested in the literature by regressing the time average income per capita growth measure on the initial income per capita level across countries or regions. For example Baumol (1986) empirically tested unconditional convergence using annual data from sixteen countries over the period 1870-1979. Baumol's results provide evidence that unconditional convergence holds only for a relatively homogenous group of countries (industrialized or middle income countries). However this study has been critiqued because of a selection bias in the sample used (Romer, 1994).

Given the restrictive assumptions underlying unconditional convergence (in terms of not conditioning on the different steady state positions across regions), many studies have looked for evidence of conditional convergence (e.g., Barro 1991, Mankiw et al, 1992). The hypothesis of conditional convergence is typically tested in the literature by regressing an income per capita growth measure on the initial income level and a set of additional explanatory variables that control for the different steady-state positions of the sample countries (Barro and Sala-i-Martin, 1991). Several authors have found conditional convergence to hold even when examining a broad sample of countries and regions (e.g., Varblane and Vahter, 2005; McQuinn and Whelan, 2006)

Empirical applications of the Solow model, however, also have emphasized the role an additional determinant of growth that did not explicitly feature in the Solow

11

model – that is, the role of human capital⁴ (Mankiw et al., 1992; Barro, 1991). Introducing human capital into Solow, the framework explicitly accounts for different growth trajectories due to differences in education and skill sets of countries. Formally, Romer (1990) develops a growth model where human capital plays a key role in the research sector, which generates new products or ideas that promotes technological progress and therefore determines the level of growth. Therefore, human capital is assumed to be created deliberately within the economy as an endogenous source of growth.

2.1.1 Review of the Solow model with human capital

This section reviews the Solow neoclassical theory of economic growth, augmented with the role of human capital. The simple neoclassical model assumes that output in an economy is produced by two inputs, capital and labor. The neoclassical model has been applied in many influential empirical studies (e. g., Barro and Sala-i-Martin, 1995; Carlino and Voith, 1992). However, these empirical studies noted that in addition to the variables pointed by Solow human capital also played a strong role in determining growth roles of economies. Therefore, this section extends the Solow model by including human capital into the production function, following Mankiw et al. (1992).

The neoclassical model assumes that output per capita is produced according to an aggregated production function. The production function is expressed in Cob-Douglas form:

$$Y(t) = K(t)^{\alpha} H(t)^{\beta} (A(t)L(t))^{1-\alpha-\beta} \qquad 0 < \alpha < 1,$$
(1)

⁴ Human capital is measured in different ways in the empirical literature. Some studies measure human capital as the average years of schooling in the population (Maddison, 2003; Van der Eng, 1992) others use expenditure on education (Leeuwen, 2006; Bleaney et al., 2001).

where Y(t) is output, K(t) is capital input, H(t) is a stock of human capital, L(t) is a labor input and A(t) is a technological progress that measures the productive efficiency. Increase in A(t) results in higher output without raising the inputs.

Labor and technology are assumed to grow exogenously at rates n and g, respectively:

$$L(t) = L(0)e^{nt}$$
⁽²⁾

$$A(t) = A(0)e^{gt} \tag{3}$$

In equation (1) the number of effective units of labor A(t)L(t) grows at rate n + g. Output and physical, human capital input can be divided by effective unit of labor y = Y/AL, k = K/AL and h = H/AL. The lower case letters y, k, h; represent quantities per effective unit of labor, then the production function (eq. 1) can be rewritten in terms of effective labor force:

$$\hat{y}(t) = \hat{k}(t)^{\alpha} \hat{h}(t)^{\beta}$$
(4)

The model assumes that savings are exogenous and constant, and therefore the physical and human capital per effective unit of labor is accumulated according to the following equation:

$$k = s_k y(t) - (n + g + \delta)k(t),$$
(5)

$$\dot{h} = s_h y(t) - (n + g + \delta)h(t)$$
(6)

where s_k and s_h are the fractions of income invested into a physical and human capital. The terms *n*, *g* and δ denote the growth rates of the labor force, technological progress and the depreciation rate of physical and human capital. The assumption in the production function (1) is that one unit of consumption can be transformed either into one unit of physical capital or one unit of human capital. Equations (5) and (6) imply that level of physical and human capital per effective unit of labor converges to constant steady state values k^* and h^* that can be expressed as:

$$k^* = \left(\frac{S_k^{1-\beta}S_h^{\beta}}{n+g+\delta}\right)^{1/(1-\alpha-\beta)},\tag{7}$$

$$h^* = \left(\frac{s_k^{\alpha} s_h^{1-\alpha}}{n+g+\delta}\right)^{1/(1-\alpha-\beta)}.$$
(8)

The neoclassical model predicts the impact of savings and population growth on real income. Substituting equations (7) and (8) into a production function and taking logs, the steady state per capita income is obtained

$$\ln\left[\frac{Y(t)}{L(t)}\right] = \ln A(0) + gt - \frac{\alpha + \beta}{1 - \alpha - \beta} \ln(n + g + \delta) + \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha - \beta} \ln(s_k) + \frac{\beta}{1 - \alpha - \beta} \ln(s_h).$$
(9)

This equation shows a dependence of income per capita on population growth and accumulation of both physical and human capital.

The Solow model assumes diminishing returns to individual factors of production. In equilibrium $\alpha + \beta < 1$, suggesting that there are diminishing return to both physical and human capital, since labor and technology grow exogenously. The implication of this assumption is that countries must use more units of physical and human capital in order to get the same gains in output, and countries would converge in income per capita, with the same technological progress. If $\alpha + \beta = 1$, there would be constant return to scale in the reproductive factors and no steady state for the model. Countries would not need to converge in income per capita, even if they have the same technological progress. Countries that save more would grow faster indefinitely. Mankiw et al. (1992) make two predictions about the role of human capital in equation (9). First, higher savings indicate a higher income that leads to a higher steady state level of human capital, even if the proportion of income devoted to human capital accumulation is unchanged. Therefore the presence of human capital accumulation in equation (9) increases the impact of physical capital accumulation on income growth. The second prediction is that the high population growth decreases the income per capita because the amounts of physical and human capital must be distributed more precisely over the entire population.

The assumption is that *s* and *n* rates are independent of an error term ε (country specific factors), thus both *s* and *n* are exogenous, not influenced by the level of income. Based on this assumption we can use ordinary least square (OLS) to estimate the production function and observe whether there are any biases in obtained coefficients. Like the Solow model, the augmented model with human capital, provides expected signs and magnitudes of coefficients on saving (*s*) and population growth (*n*) in equation (9). Because the value of coefficient α , the physical capital share in income is approximately 1/3 this implies that the elasticity of income per capita (Y/L) with respect to the saving rate (s) is expected to be 1/2 and an elasticity with respect to (n + g + δ) is expected to be -1/2. The human capital's share coefficient β is predicted to have a value between 1/3 and 1/2 that suggest that 50 to 70 percent of total labor income represents the return to human capital (Mankiw et al., 1992).

Equation (9) assumes that the economy is at steady-state. However, since the human capital level at steady-state is not observable, the presence of various government policies is more likely to push an economy out of steady-state (Lee, 1996). Therefore, in

order to describe dynamics outside of steady-state, the assumption is that a country is sufficiently close but not at the steady-state. The transitional dynamics around the steady state are expressed by following equation:

$$\left(\frac{d\ln(y(t))}{dt}\right) = \lambda[\ln(y^*) - \ln(y(t))],\tag{10}$$

where y^* is the steady state level on income per effective worker and y(t) is the actual value at time *t*. The speed of convergence⁵ around the steady state is then given by λ (the rate of convergence), that measures the speed of adjustment to the steady state:

$$\lambda = (n + g + \delta)(1 - \alpha - \beta)$$

To study the rate of convergence, equation (10) implies that:

$$\ln(y(t)) = e^{-\lambda t} \ln(y(0)) + (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \ln(y^*),$$
(11)

where y(0) is income per effective worker at an initial time. Subtracting ln(y(0)) from both sides of the equation (10), we get:

$$\ln(y(t)) - \ln(y(0)) = -(1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \ln(y(0)) + (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \ln(y^*),$$
(12)

by substituting for y^* we get the final model:

$$\ln(y(t)) - \ln(y(0)) = -(1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \ln(y(0)) - (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \frac{\alpha + \beta}{1 - \alpha - \beta} \ln(n + g + \delta) + (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha - \beta} \ln(s_k) + (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \frac{\beta}{1 - \alpha - \beta} \ln(s_h).$$
(13)

⁵ In the discussion about the Solow neoclassical growth model it is also important to question the speed of the convergence. Solow (1956) not only makes predictions about convergence but also about the speed of convergence to a steady state level. Mankiw et al. (1992) estimate the rate under which convergence occurs; their findings are consistent with Solow, although the values are smaller than he predicted. The parameters are smaller since human capital is included in the model by Mankiw et al. (1992), which implies faster convergence. The value of λ in equation (9) is the parameter governing the speed of convergence, derived from the coefficient on initial level of per capital income.

In this model the growth of income is a function of steady states determinants physical and human capital, technology, population growth, capital depreciation and the initial level of income. The differences between equation (13) and the earlier equations imply that equation (13) has the advantage of taking into account the out-of-steady states dynamics which means that regions do not have to be in their steady states in order to estimate the convergence. Thus, equation (9) is valid only if regions are already in their steady states or if deviations from steady states are random. However, equation (13) introduces a problem, if regions are permanently different with different initial technology A(0)'s. In this case, these A(0)'s would enter the equation as part of the error term and would be positively correlated with initial income. Therefore, the variation in A(0) would bias the coefficient on initial income (and potentially other coefficients). In other words, permanent cross-region differences in the production function would lead to differences in initial incomes uncorrelated with the growth rates and this would bias the results towards finding convergence (Mankiw et al., 1992).

Since the quantities per effective unit and the share of human capital are unknown, equation (13) cannot be estimated but can be rewritten in terms of quantities per labor.

$$\ln(y(t)) - \ln(y(0)) = -(1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \ln(y(0)) - (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} \ln(n + g + \delta) + (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} \ln(s_k) + (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \frac{\beta}{1 - \alpha} \ln(h) + (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \ln A(0) + gt,$$
(14)

where y is per capita output (income per person or income per worker in the standard model), A(0) is the initial level of technology, s_k is the investment into the physical capital and h is an average (or initial value) of human capital per worker over a sample period.

Equation (14) leads to a specification that serves as basis for empirical analysis. Therefore, the final empirical model that will be estimated is given by following regression equation:

$$(\ln y_{t,i} - \ln y_{0,i})/T = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln y_{0,i} + \beta_2 \ln(n + g + \delta) + \beta_3 \ln s_k + \beta_4 \ln h + u_i$$
(15)

where

$$\begin{split} \beta_0 &= (1 - e^{\lambda t}) \ln A(0) + gt, \\ \beta_1 &= -(1 - e^{\lambda t}), \\ \beta_2 &= -(1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \alpha / (1 - \alpha), \\ \beta_3 &= (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \alpha / (1 - \alpha), \\ \beta_4 &= (1 - e^{-\lambda t}) \beta / (1 - \alpha), \\ \end{split}$$

i is the regional index, T is the length of the observation interval, the coefficient λ is the rate of convergence, and u_i is an error term. The convergence coefficient, λ , indicates the rate at which a country approaches the steady state value. Equation (15) forms the baseline for most empirical work in the growth literature and is the foundation for the analysis of this thesis.

2.1.2 Application to Canada

Having reviewed the theoretical framework used in the convergence literature, this section examines the available empirical evidence on regional disparities in Canada. There exists a sizeable literature on this issue in the Canadian context (see for e.g., Coulombe, 1996; Coulombe and Tremblay, 2001; DeJuan and Tomljanovich, 2005). A general theme of inquiry in these studies is to identify the regional determinants of growth (e.g., human capital, government transfers, urbanization, physical capital, etc) across Canadian provinces, and to analyze whether or not regional economies are catching up or converging towards a common per capita income level. Most of the empirical work on regional disparity in Canada uses provincial data (e.g., Coulombe,

1999; Lee, 1996). Some studies have also used smaller geographic units, such as Census Division data, available from the Census of Population (e.g., Alasia, 2003; Shearmur and Polèse, 2001).

The bulk of the studies above rely on the theoretical growth model developed by Solow (1956), and empirically formalized by Barro (1991), to estimate the impact of a set of empirical determinants and initial conditions (identified in the neoclassical model) on an outcome variable, which represents regional growth. These studies are similar in the sense that they estimate a growth regression specified under the Barro-Solow framework, using regional data that is obtained at a specific level of disaggregation. What differentiates the studies is the set of determinants used to explain regional growth rates.

The continuing search for new regional growth determinants, as well as establishing the validity of old ones specified by theory, is characteristic of the literature on regional growth in Canada and elsewhere in the world. This is because such exploration and identification of growth determinants has large implications for regional policy formulation. This study fits into this literature, and contributes to it, by exploring the role of a so far empirically unestablished engine of regional growth entrepreneurship. Therefore, in what follows, I review the literature of regional growth in Canada with a focus on the growth determinants typically used in different studies and some of the most significant empirical results.

The study by Coulombe and Lee (1995) suggests that poor provinces tend to grow faster than rich ones in per capita terms (they find a negative coefficient on the variable denoting initial income level of regions), as predicted by the neoclassical growth model.⁶

⁶ The speed of convergence was estimated 1.05-2.89 per cent per year depending on the measurements of the output growth.

The study concludes that trade, government transfers and taxes have increased the speed of convergence and reduced the level of regional disparities. In terms of identifying the regional determinants of growth, the study focuses on unconditional convergence (also referred to as absolute Beta convergence). Unconditional convergence assumes that regions are catching up or converging towards a common per capita income level while all determinants (savings rate, human physical capital) are constant for all regions. Therefore, this approach does not account for the regional-specific determinants of growth. Coulombe and Lee (1995) use a dataset that includes six different measurements of per capita income and output to study the evolution of provincial disparities and convergence in Canada. Using panel data over the 1961-1991 time periods, the authors divided the data into three sub-periods in order to obviate degrees of freedom problems.⁷

In a subsequent study, Coulombe (1996) used provincial data from 1926 to 1994 and four different measurements of per capita income. The data used for the growth regression was partitioned into nine sub-periods (seven years in duration). The findings reveal that convergence in income per capita did not occur before 1949; however, convergence was detected during the time period 1950-77.⁸ The author highlights that convergence will be achieved faster by redistributing income through taxes and transfers. Moreover, the study suggests that industrial structure and barriers to factor mobility will have to change in order to decrease the regional disparities. The study estimated the absolute Beta convergence, assuming that growth determinants are identical for all

⁷ Given the limited number of provinces these studies have divided the data into several shorter sub-periods (e.g. 10-year spans) to create pooled cross section time series data. This increases the number of degrees of freedom available for regression analysis.

⁸ Specifically the speed of convergence was estimated at the faster rate 3.5-4.2 per cent annually.

regions. Therefore the author did not specify the set of right hand side growth determinants that this thesis is looking to identify.

The literature on convergence also compares the evolution of regional income disparities of Canadian provinces with US states. For instance, Coulombe and Day (1999) analyze the evolution of personal income per capita, output per capita and output per worker to compare Canada and 12 U.S. northern states. ⁹ However, this study also does not account for different determinants of growth across regions, since its focus is on absolute Beta convergence. The result suggests that disparities in personal income and output were lower in the northern U.S. states in comparison to Canadian provinces between 1929 and 1995. In Canada, regional disparities in output were higher than those in personal income, suggesting that government transfer payments play an important role in redistributing personal income across regions. The authors' findings are consistent with other studies that observed a decline in relative regional income disparities in Canada over time (e.g., Coulombe and Lee, 1995)

While the above studies focused on the evolution of income disparities by measuring the outcome variable, subsequent studies have focused on discovering the appropriate set of right hand side growth determinants in the regression analysis that have an effect on regional growth. For example, Lee (1996) adds determinants of growth into the neoclassical model, and explores whether private, public and human investments, migration and industrial structure effects regional growth and convergence. Lee (1996) was among the first to show that in addition to standard drivers of growth, human capital

⁹ The authors draw a distinction between measures of per capita income and output per capita since the capital stock of one region may be owned by residents of another region. Additionally personal income per capita includes transfer payments from government that may be redistributed across regions, therefore the impact of the redistribution might decrease the regional disparities.

has a positive and significant effect on productivity growth in Canada. Further, the findings show that the relationship between human capital and productivity growth becomes even stronger if inter-provincial migration¹⁰ is considered, although migration slows down the process of convergence. Increasing public investment (institutional and government investments) is also shown to affect productivity growth.

Other studies have confirmed Lee's (1996) finding regarding the important role of human capital in regional per capita income growth (e.g., Lee, 1996; Coulombe and Tremblay, 2001). For instance, Coulombe and Tremblay (2001) use educational achievements as a proxy for human capital.¹¹ The authors also include in their regression analysis other standard growth determinants such as saving rates, growth rates of the population, and variables capturing heterogeneous social and political institutional frameworks. Human capital explains almost 50 per cent of the relative per-capita income growth is to invest into advanced education. Investments into education are purported as a way of decreasing the dependency on income support programs and increasing opportunities for earning higher labor income.

More recently, Coulombe (2000) explored whether or not an additional determinant – urbanization - plays a significant role in the growth of regional economies. Urbanization is represented by a ratio of the percentage of the population living in urban areas to the provincial average.¹² In the study the author suggests that even though the

¹⁰ Migration is captured in this study by "net migration per 1000 population".

¹¹ According to this study, the best available proxies of human capital at the regional level come from the percentage of males and of the population of both sexes in the population, 15 years and over, and 25 years and over, who have achieved at least one university degree.

¹² Urban population is defined as the population living within census metropolitan areas and census agglomerations with over 10,000 inhabitants, collected from Statistics Canada's census database.

Canadian economy has gone through a process of increased urbanization since the World War II, the relative standing of provinces has not changed significantly in recent years. The growth regressions provide new evidence about the speed of convergence. Provinces have converged at the five per cent rate with a significant effect of urbanization since mid 1980s. Most of the provinces are close to their respective steady states, indicating that the cross sectional dispersion is in equilibrium where all variables will be either constant or grow at constant rates.

A subsequent study by Coulombe (2003) uses the same methodology that was employed for income per capita to estimate the convergence of human capital across Canadian provinces. The study analyzes whether urbanization and inter-provincial migration drive income and human capital convergence.¹³ The study measures output growth based on annual per capita income data (provincial personal income less government transfers). The empirical findings on the urbanization rate suggest that is ten per cent higher in rich provinces compare to the provincial average. Other findings suggest that human capital remains in more urbanized regions, which indicates that university graduates tend to migrate from poor to rich provinces. This finding suggests that inter-provincial migration of university graduates does not explain the driving force of human capital and income convergence. The authors conclude that in order to gain more wealth in the long run, it is necessary to have human capital associated with a higher rate of urbanization.

A recent study by Coulombe and Tremblay (2008) further explores the role of skills in economic growth by introducing skills as an additional explanatory variable into

¹³ The computation of urbanization variable follows study by Coulombe (2000) and the human capital indicator is based on study by Coulombe and Tremblay (2001).

the regression analysis. The data was constructed from the 2003 International Adult Literacy and Skills Survey (IALSS) released by Statistics Canada. The study compares skill intensity and schooling of the international immigrant, interprovincial migrant, and Canadian born population. The study documents that international immigrants have lower skills than the Canadian born population, whereas interprovincial migrants are more skilled than non-migrants. In terms of convergence results, this implies that international immigration reduces provincial disparities while interprovincial migration tends to increase them.

The literature has also explored the role of urbanization by separating an aggregate urbanization measure into urban and rural regions. For instance Alasia (2003) collected annual data from the Neighborhood Income and Demographics database of the Small Area and Administrative Data Division (SAAD), Statistics Canada, to analyze rural and urban income disparities. Alasia (2003) not only tests for convergence, but also accounts for transition probability matrices (using Markov analysis) – the probability of territories to transition in to a higher, lower income state or remain in a currents state. The study suggests that income disparities have increased between territories but provincial disparities have decreased over the 1990s, which implies that the geography of income disparities is shifting slowly from a provincial to a rural and urban divide. In terms of transition probability matrices, the results demonstrate that most of the census divisions remained in the same income state, and 25% divisions moved to a higher state. The results of this paper are consistent with Coulombe (2000), emphasizing that provincial convergence is affected by an increase in the urban population.

Another strand of the literature on regional disparity in Canada looks at the rural and urban divide without relying on the neoclassical growth model (Singh, 2002; Beckstead and Brown, 2005). A study by Singh (2002) explores the level and incidence of low incomes in rural regions. The study uses Census data to identify rural and urban regions according to the OECD classification of "predominantly rural" and "predominantly urban" and "intermediate" regions.¹⁴ The results suggest that income in rural regions is consistently lower compared to urban regions. Provinces with high average urban income have also a high average income in their rural regions. In terms of income disparities between rural and urban areas, the largest gap was measured within Nova Scotia and Manitoba compared to the smallest gap within New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador. The study concludes that the share of the rural population with low incomes has declined, relatively to the share of urban population with low incomes.

A study by Beckstead and Brown (2005) compares the degree of income disparities across provinces to income disparities across the urban-rural divide. Rural and urban data were defined based on the Census Metropolitan Areas and Census Agglomerations from the 2001 census. Urban regions were subdivided into four classes and rural regions into two classes according to population size. The results are consistent with Singh (2002), indicating that income disparities exist. The Atlantic provinces and Saskatchewan have less than average per capita income because the majority of the population live in small urban and rural regions. This trend is explained by relatively poor labor market conditions in smaller cities and rural areas compared to urban areas.

¹⁴ The OECD defines a region as "predominantly rural" if more than 50 percent of the population lives in rural communities. Regions are classified as "predominantly urban and intermediate" if less than 50 percent of the population lives in rural communities.

Beckstead and Brown indicate that a higher income in urban areas may be caused by a higher level of productivity. Higher productivity is explained by the benefits of access to skilled labor that is located in a center with a larger number of industries. The authors also emphasize that the provincial disparity may be structural since it is hard to replicate a large city economy in rural areas.

While most of the empirical work has been concerned with the cross-sectional analysis of convergence, a time series analysis of convergence had also been examined in several studies. Unlike the cross-section approach, where the rates of convergence are assumed to be equal across regions, the time series analysis allows the rate of convergence to differ across regions (Carlino and Mills, 1993). DeJuan and Tomljanovich (2005) collected data on two measures of income; personal income and personal income minus transfer payments using time series techniques to examine the convergence characteristics between 1926 and 1996. The empirical findings of this study are consistent with others (Coulombe, 1996; Coulombe and Day, 1999), supporting the convergence across Canadian provinces after the World War II. The results suggest that convergence exists in most provinces, although personal income is converging faster then earned income. The authors conclude that there is evidence that the federal government is taxing richer provinces (BC, ONT) more and transferring the funds to poor provinces. The findings also support previous studies (e.g., Coulombe and Lee, 1995) that government transfer payments have a role in reducing income disparities across provinces in Canada. Finally, the results also suggest that Atlantic and Plains provinces have stronger convergence tendencies than Canada as a whole.

2.2. The role of entrepreneurship in the economy

As mentioned in the introductory chapter, the neoclassical economic growth literature (e.g., Solow, 1956; Barro, 1991) has neglected to isolate the role of entrepreneurship and innovation as a source of economic growth. This is a consequence of the neoclassical approach treating innovation as a residual explanatory factor for growth, since innovation is assumed to be determined exogenously. Recognizing that entrepreneurship is inherently linked to innovation (Schumpeter, 1911), and that endogenous innovation is a key driver for endogenous economic growth (Kaldor and Mirrlees, 1962; Mankiw et al. 1992; Grossman and Helpman, 1994; Ruttan, 2001), a more recent strand of literature has focused on isolating the role and nature of entrepreneurship to innovation and growth (e.g., Audretsch and Keilbach, 2006).

Since the focus of the subsequent empirical analysis rests on isolating the role of entrepreneurship in economic growth of the Canadian economy, it is first important to define entrepreneurship, and identify the nature and roles of different types of entrepreneurs in the Canadian economy. The concept and significance of entrepreneurs or entrepreneurial firms has a long history in economic thought. Entrepreneurship can be regarded as the ability and willingness of individuals, on their own, or in teams, to perceive and create new economic opportunities, and to introduce them in the market (Wennekers and Thurik, 1999). Much of the literature suggests that the entrepreneur has a vital role as an innovator who implements changes in the economy by introducing new goods, methods of production (Schumpeter, 1911) and generating new employment (Biggs, 2002). In fact, Baumol (2002a, p. 1) argues that "…entrepreneurs have been the primary source of the technical ideas and innovations that serve as the foundation for the
unprecedented growth performance of the world's industrial economies...." Entrepreneurship has also been considered a behavioral characteristic of persons (Carree and Thurik, 2003); and it is not an occupation or a fixed state of existence (Gartner, 1989). Schumpeter (1911) adds that because being an entrepreneur is not a profession or a lasting condition, entrepreneurs do not form a social class in the technical sense.

Most of the entrepreneurs are business-owners or self-employed in small firms (Schumpeter, 1911). The small firm is an extension of the individual in charge (Lumpkin and Dess, 1996), who started up their own business (market entrants) or who already owns a small business (Fölster, 2000; Disney et al., 2003; Castany et al., 2005). The definition of a small firm varies by country, or more specifically by market size. Countries with large economies define a small firm as having fewer than 500 workers. In the developing world the number of workers in small firms is typically defined as fewer that 100 (Biggs, 2002).

Therefore, for the purpose of this thesis, the measurement of entrepreneurship will be the rate of self employment, defined as the ratio of self-employed to total employment. Many empirical studies have employed this measurement of entrepreneurship in the economy (e.g., Blanchflower and Oswald, 1998; Audretsch and Thurik, 2001). For the remainder of this thesis, we will use the terms entrepreneurship and self-employment interchangeably.

2.2.1 Innovation and entrepreneurship

Considering that entrepreneurship is inherently linked to innovation, what does the literature reveal about the relationship between different types of firms (entrepreneurship)

and the different facets of innovative performance? Innovation has been measured by an input into the innovative process, such as R&D (Scherer, 1965) or else by a proxy measure of innovative output, such as patented inventions (Mansfield, 1968) or patent applications (Bound et al., 1982). Considering the focus of this thesis on entrepreneurship, different views could be adopted of innovative performance of firms. Hagedoorn and Cloodt (2003) suggest that technological performance, inventive performance, and innovative performance can be analyzed in a narrower sense – individually - in terms of R&D inputs, patent counts, patent citations, and new product announcements. However, the authors emphasize that these indicators can be combined in a multi-dimensional setting to measure innovative performance in the broader sense. Nevertheless, when attempting to link entrepreneurship and the innovative performance of firms, the key problem remains that "the management and applied economics literature on innovation and related topics has a long history of struggling with the measurement of the innovative performance of companies" (Hagedoorn and Cloodt, 2003, p.1365).

Taking a narrow view of innovative performance of firms, Williamson (1985) provides evidence that innovation is more likely to occur in smaller firms, while larger firms are more effective at manufacturing and distributing those innovations. Geroski (1995) suggests that existing firms have a greater interest in exploiting the profit possibilities of their established product program than in searching for new opportunities. Therefore, we are more likely to observe that young and small firms are more innovative than incumbent firms. Link and Rees (1990) also suggest that small firms have the advantage of exploiting new knowledge created by R&D expenditures of large corporations.

Acs and Audretsch (1987) have explored the relative innovative advantage between large and small firms in the U.S. Their results suggest that the innovation rate (the number of innovations) per 1000 employees is, on average, higher in small firms, but they conclude that this average figure clearly varies across industries.¹⁵ Small firms were found to have an innovative advantage in highly innovative industries from utilizing a large component of the skilled labor force, while large firms tend to have an innovative advantage in industries which are capital-intensive, concentrated, and advertising-intensive (Acs and Audretsch 1987).

In sum, we have evidence which suggests that small firms are more likely to be innovative due to their advantage to exploit new knowledge and search for new opportunities. Studies which have explored innovation in terms of R&D and patent invention suggest that small firms produce more patents and are more likely to be engaged in high-impact technology. The literature also differentiates between the impact of innovative small and large firms, as a function of the type of industry. Small firms were found to have an innovative advantage in highly innovative industries, while large firms tend to have an innovative advantage in industries which are capital-intensive.

2.2.2 Linking entrepreneurship to economic growth

Schumpeter's (1911) early analysis suggests that an increase in the number of entrepreneurs leads to an increase in economic growth. In the more recent economic literature, entrepreneurship has received attention as a key driver for endogenous economic growth. Entrepreneurship can influence economic growth through innovation,

¹⁵ In 1982 the small-firm innovation rate in manufacturing was 0.322, compared to a large-firm innovation rate of 0.225 (Acs and Audretsch, 1987).

and through entry and exit of new firms (Wennekers and Thurik, 1999). The impact of enhanced entrepreneurial activity on growth can also be the result of an expression of entrepreneurial skills, and more precisely, the propensity of entrepreneurs to innovate (Dejardin, 2000).

The literature review of Wennekers and Thurik (1999) on the link between entrepreneurship and economic growth identifies three different types of entrepreneurs Schumpeterian entrepreneurs (entrepreneurial 1): and self–employed). (Table intrapreneurs (entrepreneurial and employee) and managerial business owners (managerial and self-employed).¹⁶ Thus, both Schumpeterian entrepreneurs and intrapreneurs belong to the core of real entrepreneurship and are viewed as the engine of innovation and 'creative destruction' (Schumpeter, 1942).¹⁷ Managerial business owners generally represent the majority of self-employed; this category includes franchisees, shopkeepers and people in professional occupations. Although they play an important role in the economy, through coordination of production and distribution achievements, Wennekers and Thurik (1999, p. 48) suggest that they cannot be viewed as the "...engine of innovation and creative destruction. This is the major function of Schumpeterian entrepreneurs and intrapreneurs."

¹⁶ The fourth type in table 1 corresponds to the executive managers (managerial and employee) that is not considered an entrepreneur. ¹⁷ Schumpeter (1942) introduced the term 'creative destruction' to describe the process of transformation –

the destruction of old and creating new economic structures - that accompanies radical innovation.

	Self-employed	Employee		
Entrepreneurial	Schumpeterian entrepreneurs	Intrapreneurs		
Managerial	Managerial business owners	Executive managers		
Source: Wennekers and Thurik (1000 n. 47)				

Table 1. Three types of entrepreneurs

Source: Wennekers and Thurik (1999, p. 47).

The study conducted by Dejardin (2000) also explores the connection between entrepreneurship and economic growth based on a review of recent research. Dejardin (2000) puts forth that the "Schumpeterian" innovative entrepreneurs seek to create new profit opportunities which can result in productivity increases. An increased level of productivity could then lead to an increase in economic growth. Dejardin (2000) suggests that the larger the share of innovative entrepreneurs in the workforce, the greater the increase in economic growth.

A number of studies have investigated the link between small firms and economic growth empirically. Carree and Thurik (1998) analyze the impact of small firms on economic growth in 13 European countries. Their analysis suggests that small firms that existed in 1990 had a positive effect on output growth in the subsequent four years. Audretsch and Thurik (1999) identify a shift in economic activity away from large firms towards small enterprises, and explore the impact of this shift on economic growth in 12 European countries. The authors point out that those countries which experienced greater rates of growth also experienced the greatest shift towards small enterprises. In a more recent study, Audretsch and Thurik (2001) examine 17 European countries over a four year period, to produce empirical evidence that supports their previous study. This

evidence suggests that an increased role of entrepreneurial activity can result in higher subsequent rates of economic growth.

Summing up, the literature on entrepreneurship and growth identifies entrepreneurs and their propensity to innovate as a key driver for endogenous economic growth. The literature also distinguishes between entrepreneurs who are innovative and creative in comparison to managerial business owners who are important to the economy, but who may not be viewed as the engine of economic growth. From an empirical perspective, the above studies also provide evidence that small firms can have a positive effect on economic growth.

2.2.3 The link between entrepreneurship (self-employment) and unemployment

Since occupational choices are likely not only driven by intrinsic motivation but also by external conditions that an individual faces, what does the economic literature tell us about the relationship between the unemployment in an economy and the level of selfemployment? The economic literature that examines the link between self-employment and unemployment (e.g., Acs et al.; 1994; Schuetze, 1998) is divided over whether the relationship between self-employment and unemployment is positive (the "push" effect) or negative (the "pull" effect). The push effect indicates that the number of self-employed increases once total unemployment increases, which would suggest that workers are "pushed" into self-employment because of poor job opportunities, or during a time of economic distress. In this case, self-employment is positively associated with unemployment (Lin et al., 2000). The pull effect suggests that if regular employment is strong, self-employment is even stronger; workers are being "pulled" into self employment in a vision of better benefits and higher chances of success (Kamhi and Leung, 2005). It is thus assumed that the relationship between self-employment and unemployment would be negative. The study by Fölster (2000) suggests that the pull effect might be due to demand fluctuations over the business cycle, or to structural shifts in business conditions. Fölster (2000) also indicates that the relationship between self-employment and unemployment is an important policy question, since many countries attempt to promote self employment through subsidies or reducing taxes as a way to fight unemployment.

Audretsch et al. (2001) examine whether entrepreneurship in 23 OECD countries reduces unemployment over the period 1974-1998. The results of this study show that the relationship between unemployment and entrepreneurship is both negative and positive. The evidence suggests that an increase in unemployment can have a positive impact on entrepreneurship. At the same time, an increase in entrepreneurship has a negative impact on subsequent unemployment; these are two dynamic inter-temporal relationships, each working in the opposite direction. In this study, the authors conclude that the level of entrepreneurship and unemployment differ considerably across countries, which implies that the public policy approach to address these issues should also differ across countries.

Audretsch and Thurik (2001) investigate why a higher level of entrepreneurship impacts unemployment, by conducting a meta-analysis of previous empirical studies. To do this they refer to Gibrat's Law, which states that the size of firm and its growth rate are independent. Since the expected growth rates of small and large enterprise are identical, Gibrat's Law implies that shifting employment from large to small enterprises should have no impact on total employment. Therefore, Audretsch and Thurik (2001) suggest that "a restructuring of the economy away from large enterprises and towards small firms, should have no impact on the unemployment rate." (p. 23). However, their conclusion from reviewing previous economic studies suggests that Gibrat's Law does not hold across a broad spectrum of firm sizes, controlling for differences in country, time period, industry, and methodology used in these studies. Audretsch and Thurik (2001) also suggest that firm growth is negatively related to firm size and age, therefore higher growth rates of small firms should cause lower unemployment rates, which is not consistent with Gilbrat's Law.

A more recent study by Piergiovanni et al. (2003) uses data of Italian firms, to investigate whether Gibrat's law can be rejected for five different business groups in the services sector. The results suggest that Gibrat's Law can be rejected for three business groups and for the industry as a whole, since growth rates are independent of firm size in the remaining two business groups. This evidence suggests that any general conclusion regarding Gibrat's Law cannot be reached without considering firm heterogeneity across industries.

Summing up, there is no consensus from previous studies on whether selfemployment has a negative or positive effect on unemployment. Nevertheless, the literature suggests that this relationship is an important policy question, since many countries are fighting with unemployment. The literature also suggests it is important to allow for heterogeneity of firms and business groups, since different sectors are likely to differ in their mix of firm sizes, such that firm size can have a differential impact on economic growth.

2.2.4 Entrepreneurship and the creation of new employment

Much of the entrepreneurship literature pays attention to the relationship between entrepreneurship and the creation of new employment. Employment creation occurs when firms grow or enter the market, while employment destruction occurs when firms shrink or exit the market. A fall in overall employment is likely to make self-employment an attractive option. Some authors describe self-employment as a 'safe choice' for unemployed people, or for people who are discriminated in the labor market (Moore 1983). Based on data from Sweden (1976 to 1995), Fölster (2000) suggests that entrepreneurial firms have a high contribution to job creation and overall employment. The study by Hart and Harvey (1995) focuses on three regions in the United Kingdom during the late 1980s, and suggests that employment creation stems largely from small firms, although employment losses were also found for small firms, supporting the pull hypothesis.

In a more recent survey of the literature, Praag and Versloot (2008) review studies that investigate whether entrepreneurship creates new employment. Their conclusion is that higher business start-up rates are associated with higher immediate levels of employment. However, after some years of operation, the relationship between entrepreneurship and employment growth is negative due to the competitive pressure which leads inefficient incumbents to exit the market. In the longer run, the net effect is positive due to increased competitiveness (Praag and Versloot, 2008). However, as Fritsch (2008) points out, the formation of new businesses cannot be identical in all regions. The overall employment effect of new firms is likely positive in high productivity regions with high-quality entries, rich resources and a well-functioning innovation system. The effect is likely smaller or may even be negative in low productivity regions with low-quality entries, scarcity of relevant resources and an inefficient innovation system (Fritsch, 2008).

Summing up, the literature isolates a strong connection between entrepreneurship and new job creation. From an empirical perspective, the literature concludes that job creation depends on the region, the industry and the period in which the firm undertakes the activity. Further, in the short run, higher business start-up rates are found to be associated with higher levels of employment. However, after some years the relationship with employment growth is negative due to competitive pressure, yet the long run net effect is positive due to increased competitiveness.

2.3 Empirical evidence of entrepreneurship in Canada

As one of the most industrialized country within the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), it has been suggested that Canada enjoys the highest standard of living along with the United Kingdom, Germany and Japan (HRSDC, 2009). In 2006, Canada's GDP per capita was \$ 43,356 compared to an average of \$35,512 in other 30 OECD countries (OECD, 2009). As of December 2008, Canada's national unemployment was 6.6%, which is 0.2% lower than the average in all OECD countries (OECD, 2009). Historically, Canada, the United Kingdom and Sweden have attracted the largest inflow of foreign direct investment (FDI) among the OECD countries (OECD, 2009), and a large number of multinational enterprises of all sizes (Ensign, 2008). However, what does the available empirical evidence suggest on the role of small

to medium size enterprises, and on the role of entrepreneurship in particular to the Canadian economy?

2.3.1 Self-employment in the Canadian economy

There is some evidence that the trend of small business expansion has had a positive impact on the Canadian economy. Evidence from Moore and Mueller (1998) suggests that self-employment has become the primary source of new employment in the economy. Based on Statistics Canada data, over 75 per cent of all new jobs were created between 1989 and 1996 in self-employment (Moore and Mueller, 1998). Further, as part of an international survey, the 'Global Entrepreneurship Monitor' ranked Canada as one of the most entrepreneurial countries in the world for the 1997-2007 period (Bosma et al., 2009).

Canadian self-employment has fluctuated considerably over the past 30 years (Figure 1). Between 1976 and 1997, the fraction of self-employed in total employment increased significantly, starting at 12.16 per cent in 1976, and reaching a peak of 17.14 per cent in 1997.¹⁸ The most rapid growth of self-employment occurred between 1990 and 1998 by an average of 3.6 per cent per year. In contrast, over the 1999-2002 period, the self employment rate had a noticeable decline to -0.2 per cent annual growth. During the 2002-2003 period, self-employment rose again to 3.7 per cent. In 2005 the number of self-employed people fell by 3 per cent. In 2007 the growth of self-employed rebounded to 4.6 per cent, adding additional 33.000 of new small to medium-size firms (Tal, 2008). Over the past three decades self-employment grew by an annual average of 2.6 per cent,

¹⁸ Statistics Canada's definition of self-employed includes both owners of incorporated and unincorporated businesses as well as unpaid family workers.

while wage employment grew by an average of 1.7 per cent per year between 1976-2007 (Statistics Canada, 2008; author's own computations).

Empirical evidence on the push versus pull-effect of unemployment is limited in the Canadian context. The study by Tal (2006) suggests that the decline in Canadian self-employment has a positive effect on unemployment, since people transfer to a wage employment. Tal (2006) suggests that falling numbers of self-employed should be seen as a positive development, since strong labor markets have "pushed" workers into self-employment because of poor job opportunities to find suitable wage-employment job.

Figure 1. Total Self Employment as percentage of total employment, in Canada (1976 – 2007)



Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

The above fluctuating trends in the rate of self employment (Figure 1) could be in part explained by the push and pull effect (e.g., Fölster 2000; Audretsch et al., 2001). The empirical study by Kamhi and Leung (2005) has attempted to identify economic conditions (measured by the unemployment rate) that could explain the rise and decline of Canadian self-employment over the period of 1987-2002. Based on their empirical results, the authors suggest that the self-employment rate is pro-cyclical - individuals are being "pulled" into self-employment when economic conditions are better. However, the unemployment rate was higher in 1998 than in 1989, and subsequently declined after 1998; this suggests that cyclical factors cannot fully explain the rise and decline of the self-employment rate. Thus, factors which caused the self-employment rate to rise may be different from those that caused it to decline.

With a focus on a possible relationship between business cycles and unemployment, Lin et al. (2000) analyzes whether high unemployment has had an effect on self-employment in Canada, which might lead to cyclical or permanent trends. The results suggest that there is a significant and negative relationship between selfemployment rates and unemployment rates, supporting the hypothesis that self-employed are "pulled" into a dynamic and vibrant economy.

A more recent study that focuses on structural issues underlying self-employment, Kamhi and Leung (2005), suggests that the rise and decline of self-employed has occurred due to shift in the industrial structure and changes within each industry. The increase and the subsequent decrease in self-employment occurred in most industries. Four fields appear to have contributed to the rise of self-employment (Kamhi and Leung 2005): educational services; business services; professional, scientific and technical services; and finance, insurance, and real estate services. Likewise, a large fraction of the decline can be accounted by the following industries: retail trade, manufacturing industries and mainly agriculture. This finding by Kamhi and Leung (2005) suggests that industry-specific factors drive the trends in self-employment.¹⁹

Most the literature suggests that a significant portion of the decline in selfemployment growth is due to the ongoing decline in the importance of the agricultural sector. The decline in agriculture appears to have held back the rise in the overall selfemployment rate, but because of its declining overall economic significance, the gap between the self-employment rate for the total economy and that for the non-agricultural sector has closed further (HRDC, 2000). Therefore the declining importance of the agricultural sector has been outweighed by the increasing importance of professional, scientific, technical services, management, administrative, and other support services, and a rebound in the importance of construction (Kamhi and Leung, 2005). Due to the rapid decline of the agricultural sector, some studies exclude workers in the agricultural selfemployment sector in the analysis and use non-agriculture self-employment rates either as a proportion of total employment (Kuhn and Schuetze, 2001; Wiklund and Shepherd 2008) or as a proportion of total non-agriculture employment (Acs et al., 2005). In order to abstract from ongoing employment declines in agriculture, which affect selfemployment statistics, this study uses the non-agricultural self-employment rate as a proportion of total employment.

¹⁹ The descriptive statistics section of this thesis aims therefore to account for industry-specific factors by investigating the correlation between unemployment and non-agricultural self-employment.

2.3.2 The nature of Canadian self-employment

Even with the recorded decline in the agricultural sector, a high rate of selfemployment can be observed in Canada. In 2007, 117,000 Canadians became small business owners, increasing the number of self-employed to 2.6 million in total, the highest in Canada's history surpassing the growth of private and public sector employees (Statistics Canada, 2007). Apart from considering the above factors driving the "push" and "pull" hypotheses, it is of interest to look at the nature of Canadian entrepreneurs in an attempt to better understand Canadian self-employment. Tal (2005) suggests that being a small business owner is a lifestyle choice. Self-employed use their business as a means of generating income, while balancing other commitments or lifestyle choices. Even though entrepreneurs may work longer hours for less pay, they tend to stay in their positions longer than those who work for someone else. Typically, small business owners would also prefer to start small and remain small. Tal (2005) argues that policies aimed at helping small business to grow must first consider the fact that the majority of small firms in Canada do not wish to grow, as lifestyle considerations outweigh financial motivations.

Demographically speaking, there has been an increase in self employment across all age and gender groups over the recent years (Tal, 2005). It appears that the propensity of self-employment increases with age. The most significant increase occurred for older businesses owners of both genders over the age of 55 (Tal, 2005). Currently the age group 45-65 years is the fastest growing segment of the population. Therefore, in the long term, older entrepreneurs are likely to play an even more important role in the economic activity, as the population ages and the traditional workforce age cohort declines. It is

possible that the reason behind the trend of increased number of older entrepreneurs is that they are more experienced and more productive. On average, a small business owner was found to often have had over 13 years of related practical industry experience before launching his/her business (Tal, 2006).

Tal (2008) provides more recent evidence that supports this "experience hypothesis". The study identifies six important characteristics that contribute to small business financial success in Canada. The first is previous experience in paid employment that contributes to strong revenue growth. Those self-employed with such experiences are seeing average 60% higher revenue growth compared with no paid-employment experience. Small firms which utilize professional services such as accountants, bankers and lawyers enjoy a 75 per cent faster rise in revenue compared to those small firms who do not employ such support. Higher education also contributes to business success as it helps to increase the ability of the entrepreneur to cope with problems and submit a clear signal of competency to potential clients.²⁰ Partnership rather than single ownership was found to be a significant factor that improves the resources and skills base of the venture, enhancing credibility among creditors, and provides ongoing psychological support. Technology adoption and connectivity also plays an important factor that led to accelerated growth of small firms. Furthermore, market/export orientation was found to affect small business financial success. During the first half of the decade, those small firms that were more export-oriented grew 20 per cent faster that companies focusing on the Canadian market (Tal, 2008).

²⁰ In Canada around 40 per cent of small business owners have a university/college diploma (Tal, 2008).

2.3.3 Small businesses and the urban-rural divide

Evidence from Canada suggests that the greater the differences in economic growth and development between rural and urban regions, the greater we can expect consequences in terms of regional economic inequality (Ensign, 2008). In order to provide a more comprehensive view of the differences between rural and urban regions, this section explores employment growth in rural areas and identifies trends in rural employment in Canada. This section also considers studies which have analyzed the urban-to-rural employment growth spillovers and summarizes policy recommendation for regional development in Canada from these studies.

In the Canadian economic literature that analyzes differences between rural and urban regions, the definition of urban and rural regions is based on the Statistics Canada Census data. The term "urban" is defined as a region with a minimum population of 1,000 and a population density of at least 400 people per square kilometer (Statistics Canada, 2006). Conversely, the term "rural" refers to a population with less than 1,000 people per square kilometer. Statistics Canada also disaggregates data according to census divisions, which are referred to Census Metropolitan Areas (CMAs) (population of at least 100,000) and Census Agglomerations (CAs) (population of at least 10,000) from the 2001 census (Beckstead and Brown, 2005). However, given the diversity of socio-economic indicators that can be used to characterize regions, the Statistics Canada distinction of urban vs. rural can only be considered as a proxy for distinguishing regions for analytical purposes. Consider that rural regions are considerably diverse in Canada, for instance regions in rural Ontario are very different compare to the prairies due to the

differences in population size and access to markets. Therefore the nature of the rural disparities can be economically different across provinces (Singh, 2002).

The study by Cunningham and Bollman (1996) attempts to identify the trends in rural employment in Canada in early 1990s. The authors find a decline in employment in natural resource industries (e.g., agriculture, fish, forest, and ore) that have traditionally sustained rural growth in Canada. The trends show a shift away from employment in resource industries toward service industries. The authors conclude that rural communities, especially communities that contain one type of industry, are expected to decline unless they can diversify and become less dependent on resource industries.²¹

Similar trends in rural employment growth have also been observed by Wernerheim and Sharpe (2005). Their data suggests that service employment is growing even faster in rural regions compared to urban regions, and that service employment employs the majority of rural workers. The study indicates that the increase in the share of employment in the service industry is very important to rural communities given the decline in employment in natural resource industries. The study points out that in order to revitalize rural regions that are lagging behind and attract employment to the region, policymakers should promote the establishment of new advanced service firms (professional, scientific and technical services) and employ a variety of market interventions (e.g. tax credits and exemptions, loan guarantees, and wage subsidies). The authors conclude that the challenge is not only to establish new firms, but also making them stay after subsidies run out.

²¹ Cunningham and Bollman (1996) refer to rural community based on the OECD classification as a small basic administrative or statistical area, which is as homogeneous as possible.

Statistics Canada (2007) states that the shift towards growth in rural employment is a trend that began in 2004 and is still booming. For instance in 2007 the number of people employed in rural areas in Canada rose by 2.7%, slightly higher than in urban areas (2.4%). The employment increase in rural areas from 2002 to 2004 may have been the result of the recovery in mining and farming, while manufacturing employment losses affected employment in urban and rural areas. Also, the rise in international commodity exports likely increased rural employment in the primary industries and transportation (Statistics Canada, 2007).

The trends in employment growth in rural regions also apply to self-employment. The study by Plessis (2004) looks at the differences in rates of self-employment activity between rural and urban workers. Based on the census data, the study finds that the rural workers represent a substantial proportion of all self-employed workers in Canada. The rates of self-employed workers were much higher in rural places although the differences between rural and urban self-employment decreases after the agriculture data are excluded from the sample. The study concludes that there has been a significant decline in the proportion of self-employed workers in the farming industry in rural areas; on the other hand non-farm activities are on the rise. Since the mid 1990s more rural workers have been engaged in non-farm self-employment activity than in farm self-employment activity. The findings of the study also indicate that about half of the rural workers who reported to earn self-employment income relied on this source for at least 75 percent of their total income in 2000. Considering self-employed in the farming sector, this also implies that these individuals have a diversity of income streams (Plessis, 2004).

Another stream of the literature on the rural and urban divide seeks to analyze the urban-to-rural employment growth spillovers. The study by Feser and Isserman (2006) finds that employment growth which originated in highly urbanized region had a positive effect on nearby rural regions.²² Nevertheless, this U.S. study suggests that rural regions do not benefit from employment growth in other nearby rural regions or other nearby mixed rural/urban regions. The study also suggests that declining employment in an urban region is associated with declining employment in proximate rural regions, whereas a decline in employment in mixed urban/rural regions is associated with growth in proximate rural regions.²³ This paper concludes that the success of rural development depends on the spatial structure surrounding the target region such that urban employment spillovers can influence rural prosperity measured through job growth.²⁴ This conclusion appears also to apply for Canada, where employment growth in the services sector is rising in those rural regions that are close to metropolitan centers (Cunningham and Bollman, 1996).

In an earlier study, Bollman et. al. (1992) recommend three directions that rural Canada needs to follow in order to have a prosperous future: *Macro-diversification*: rural areas need to become less dependent on traditional rural industries. *Metro-ization*: the market for rural goods and services will become more and more urban; new rural jobs will be based on innovative goods and services of interest to metropolitan residents. *The*

²² In this US study the term "rural" is defined as a region that has an urban population of 10 percent or less or 10,000 or fewer in total urban population; and a population density of fewer than 500 per square mile. The term "urban" is defined as a region with a population that is at least 90 percent urban; and a minimum of 50,000 in urban population; and a population density of at least 500 people per square mile (Feser and Isserman, 2006).

 ²³ Barkley et al. (1996) estimated a residential population density functions for three US states to show that employment growth spillovers are strongly associated with population growth spillovers.
 ²⁴ The study refers to six common spatial development scenarios: the expanding monocentric city, the

²⁴ The study refers to six common spatial development scenarios: the expanding monocentric city, the declining urban core, the sprawling low-density city, the large multi-centered urban region, the central place and its hinterland, and the isolated resource-dependent rural community.

new economy: Canada's comparative advantage was predicted to be in the "knowledge intensive" industries (Bollman et. al., 1992, p. 619-620). However, 15 years later the evidence shows that the urban-rural divide has only been partially overcome, since the knowledge-intensive industries still dominate urban regions in Canada (Wernerheim and Sharpe, 2005).

Summing up, the literature suggests that employment activity and economic growth differ between rural and urban areas. In recent years the trends of rural areas show a shift away from employment in resource industries toward service industries (Cunningham and Bollman, 1996). The number of self-employed workers is smaller in urban regions compared to rural regions where non-farm activities are on the rise (Plessis, 2004). The literature also investigates the urban-to-rural employment growth spillovers, suggesting that employment growth originated in highly urbanized regions have a positive effect on nearby rural regions. Therefore, success of rural development depends on the spatial structure surrounding the target region such that urban employment spillovers can influence rural job growth (Feser and Isserman, 2006). In conclusion, and for the purpose of this thesis, it is important to determine the impact of entrepreneurship and economic growth on rural and urban regions in Canada. Many studies have associated the employment growth spillover with population growth spillover (e.g., Barkley et al., 1996). Hence, the best available proxy variable that will account for the different economic structures between rural and urban places for our provincial dataset is the urbanization variable expressed as a proportion of urban population to a total population.

Chapter 3 – Data and Descriptive Statistics

3. 1 Data source and description

The data for this study is drawn from the computerized database CANSIM II, (Canadian Socio-economic Information Management System) and from the Census statistical database provided by Statistics Canada. The socio-economic database CANSIM provides access to current and historical time series data derived from surveys and programs on a variety of subjects. Using CANSIM, annual time series data were collected from 1976 to 2007 for ten provinces: Newfoundland (NF), Prince Edward Island (PEI), Nova Scotia (NS), New Brunswick (NB), Quebec (QB), Ontario (ON), Manitoba (MB), Saskatoon (SK), Alberta (AB) and British Columbia (BC). The data from CANSIM was matched with demographic data from the Census database. The Census database is a survey of the entire population in Canada that provides extensive information on the levels and the sources of income of Canadians conducted every 5 years.

To describe the pattern of regional growth, data on per capita GDP in 2002 constant prices was obtained from the Provincial Economic Accounts program, CANSIM table 384-0002 available from 1981 to 2007. The Provincial Economic Accounts targets population in the Canadian economy including persons and unincorporated business, corporations, governments and non-residents. The program produces annual estimates of selected aggregates by province and territory. The date are extracted from administrative files and derived from other Statistics Canada surveys or other sources.

To describe the pattern of entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial sectoral trends, the self-employment variable was derived from the Labour Force Survey (LFS) estimates,

CANSIM table 282-0012. The LFS is a household survey that provides a detailed, current picture of the labour market including self-employment and total employment, targeting a population 15 years of age and older across all provinces. The data collection for the LFS involves interviews that are conducted by telephone or by personal visit. The sample size of LFS has been approximately 54,000 households since July 1995. For LFS, selfemployed are defined as following: "Working owners of an incorporated business, farm or professional practice, or working owners of an unincorporated business, farm or professional practice. The latter group also includes self-employed workers who do not own a business (such as babysitters and newspaper carriers). Self-employed workers are further subdivided by those with or without paid help. Also included among the selfemployed are unpaid family workers. They are persons who work without pay on a farm or in a business or professional practice owned and operated by another family member living in the same dwelling" (Statistics Canada, 2009, p.16). The self-employed person is considered to work in a private sector, but can receive contracts from a government department or other public sectors. Self-employed person may or may not have more than one job. Full-time students and those who, on average, work less than 11 hours per week are excluded (Bowlby, 2005).

The self-employment variable is further disaggregated into two categories; class of self-employment and industry groups. The class of self employment consists of incorporated self-employed with paid or unpaid help, and unincorporated self-employed with paid or unpaid help. The *incorporated with paid help* class includes working owners of an incorporated business, farm, or professional practice who had employees. The *incorporated with no paid help* class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated with no paid help class includes working owners of an incorporated wi

business, farm, or professional practice who did not have employees. The *unincorporated with paid help* class includes working owners of a business, farm, or professional practice that is not incorporated and self-employed persons who do not have a business (this group had employees). The *unincorporated with no paid help* class includes working owners of a business, farm, or professional practice that is not incorporated and self-employed persons practice that is not incorporated and self-employed persons who do not have a business. Finally the *unpaid family worker* class includes persons who work without pay on a farm or in a business or professional practice owned and operated by another family member living in the same dwelling. In this study unpaid family worker class was excluded.

The second category of self-employment, industry groups, includes desegregation of self-employment according to goods-producing sectors and services-producing sectors based on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS). Table (2) shows the different industry groups. Statistics Canada offers these desegregated data from the 1987 to 2007 time period.

 Table 2. Disaggregated self-employment according to class of self-employed worker

 and the goods-producing sector and services producing sector based on the North

 American Industry Classification System (NAICS)

Class of Self- employed worker	 Incorporated, with paid help 				
	 Incorporated, no paid help 				
	 Unincorporated, with paid help 				
	 Unincorporated, no paid help 				
	 Unpaid family worker 				
North American Industry Classification System (NAICS)		 Agriculture 			
	Goods-	 Forestry, fishing, mining, oil and gas 			
	producing	 Utilities 			
	sector	 Construction 			
		 Manufacturing 			
		 Trade 			
		 Transportation and warehousing 			
		 Finance, insurance, real estate and leasing 			
		 Professional, scientific and technical services 			
	Services-	 Business, building and other support services 			
	producing	 Educational services 			
	sector	Health care and social assistance			
		 Information, culture and recreation 			
		 Accommodation and food services 			
		 Other services 			
		 Public administration 			

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008.

A set of variables were drawn from Statistic's Canada, CANSIM database to specify the econometric model. These variables are population, depreciation per person in 2002 constant prices, university education, net trade, net migration and employment rate. The econometric model also includes a visible minority variable and urbanization variable collected from the Statistic's Canada Census database for a five year period from 1981 – 2006. The depreciation per person, university education, urbanization and visible minorities variables are presented as a proportion of provincial population. The net trade variable is expressed as provincial imports minus exports of goods and services, and net migration accounts for the proportion of the provincial population by subtracting outmigrants from in-migrants.

3.2 Descriptive statistics

Using the GDP per capita in 2002 (at constant prices) in Figure (2), the pattern of regional Canadian growth can be seen in terms of the relationship between the per capita GDP growth rate from 1981 to 2007 and the per capita GDP in 2007. It is noticeable that the greater the GDP growth in the last three decades the lower the per capita GDP is in 2007 (with the exception of Alberta). The highest growth was accounted in Newfoundland (3.34%), likely due to a large number of off-shore oil projects, followed by New Brunswick (2.30%), best known for the exploitation of its natural resources such as forestry and mining as well as manufacturing and expansion of services sector. Also Alberta and Saskatchewan has accounted a boom in the economy with a 2.20% and 2.22% growth rate, thanks to strong industries such as oil, uranium, and potash production in Saskatchewan, and oil and gas resources in Alberta.

Low GDP growth between 1976 and 2007 was observed in British Columbia (1.00%) and Ontario (1.56%). The Business Council of British Columbia reports that productivity in the province has declined due to low levels of investment in machinery and equipment (Anderson, 2005). Ontario's economy has been greatly affected by the challenges to manufacturing, exports and the high corporate tax burden that behave as a sharp deterrent to investment (RBC, 2007). Ontario and British Columbia along with Alberta and Saskatchewan have enjoyed the highest GDP per capita in 2007. The lowest GDP in 2007 was found in Prince Edward Island and New Brunswick. Considering Canada as a whole, the level of GDP per capita in 2007 reached \$ 39,735. From 1976 to 2007 the average GDP in Canada has grown by 1.69%.

Figure 2. Relationship between per capita GDP growth rate 1981 - 2007, and per capita GDP in 2007 for all provinces including Canada



Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

Considering self-employment as a proportion of total employment for all sectors of economy, Figure (3) shows high volatility over the last three decades. Figure (3) reports self-employment rates across all provinces and all industries in Canada from 1976 to 2007. A cyclical trend in self-employment rates appears to be visible in Newfoundland, Labrador and Manitoba where in 1976 the self-employment rate was 12.0% and 13.8%. In the 1990's both provinces had reached the overall peak in terms self employment rate; Newfoundland and Labrador increased to 14.9% and Manitoba to 18.3% in 1998. By the end of this period, the self-employment rate in Newfoundland and Labrador declined to 11.0% and 14.9% in Manitoba in 2007.

The trends in the total self-employment rate have significantly increased in some provinces over the 1976 to 2007 period. After calculating the annual growth rate of the self-employment rate over the 31 years, the highest was documented in British Columbia 1.6%; increasing from 12.0% in 1976 to 18.8% in 2007. The second largest annual growth rate was documented in Quebec, 1.3%, increasing from 10.0% in 1976 to 14.3% in 2007. Ontario is the third province that has indicated an annual self-employment rate was 10.5% increasing to 15% in 2007. The fourth largest annual self-employment growth was accounted in Nova Scotia (0.76%) increasing from 10.5% in 1976 to 12.8% in 2007.

Other provinces have accounted a decline in the self-employment growth rate. Based on the Figure (3) a negative self-employment annual growth rate was accounted in Saskatchewan (-1.4%) and Prince Edward Island (-1.2%). The self-employment rate has decreased in Saskatchewan from 29.2% in 1976 to 18.5% in 2007, and from 20.0% in 1976 to 13.4% in Prince Edward Island. Similar developments can be also observed in Alberta with the growth rate -0.08%, remarkably decreasing from 18.1% to 17.2%.

Figure 3. Annual total self-employment rate for all provinces and all industries, including Canada as a whole, 1976 – 2007



Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

To further examine the trends in self-employment, the self-employment variable is disaggregated according to two categories, the class of self-employment and the industry groups. Table (3) presents the disaggregated self-employment rate according to class of self-employed worker from 1976 to 2007 in Canada. This table shows an average growth rate and the share of each class of self-employment. The highest annual growth, nearly six per cent is observed in incorporated class with no paid help, with 8.8% of total share. The incorporated class with paid help is the second highest growing class of self-employment with 1.87% annual growth rate and the highest share of self-employed firms (22.95%). Almost 50% of all small firms fall in the unincorporated class with no paid

help, where the annual growth rate reaches one per cent. A negative growth rate of more than -6% can be observed for unpaid family workers, with 4.27% of total share of small firms.

	Share of SE rate	Average growth
	(%)	rate (%)
Self-employed incorporated, with paid help	22.95%	1.87%
Self-employed incorporated, no paid help	8.79%	5.99%
Self-employed unincorporated, with paid help	15.57%	-1.33%
Self-employed unincorporated, no paid help	48.41%	0.96%
Unpaid family worker	4.27%	-6.34%

Table 3. Average growth rate and share of class of self-employed worker, Canada,1976 – 2007

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

Table (4) shows disaggregated data on self-employment according to 16 different industry sectors in Canada, contrasting the average growth rate and the share of each sector among the self-employed individuals. The highest growth was in the service-producing sector, particularly in the educational services (4.53%), where 1.64% of small firms are employed. This growth rate is followed by business, building and other support services (4.43%) with a total share 4.97% of small firms. A total of 12.04% of Canadians firms have been self-employed in the professional, scientific and technical services sector, where the growth rate reached 3.84% from 1987 to 2007 time period. The highest share of self-employment (14.3%) is observed in the trade sector, although this sector declined by more than one per cent. The highest decline in the growth rate of self-employment was accounted for the agricultural sector (-3.42%) during 1987–2007, which is remarkable considering its large share of self-employment (12.55%).

	Share of SE rate, 1987 – 2007 (%)	Average growth rate, 1987 – 2007 (%)
Goods-producing sector	30.90%	-0.88%
Agriculture	12.55%	-3.42%
Construction	11.68%	1.52%
Manufacturing	4.42%	0.12%
Forestry, fishing, mining, oil and gas	2.21%	-0.41%
Utilities	n/a	n/a
Services-producing sector	69.10%	1.36%
Trade	14.30%	-1.13%
Professional, scientific and technical services	12.04%	3.84%
Other services	9.51%	-0.24%
Health care and social assistance	8.23%	1.83%
Finance, insurance, real estate and leasing	5.45%	3.79%
Transportation/warehousing	4.98%	1.71%
Business, building and other support services	4.97%	4.43%
Information, culture and recreation	4.02%	2.02%
Accommodation/food services	3.94%	0.11%
Educational services	1.64%	4.53%
Public administration	n/a	n/a

Table 4. The average growth rate and share of self employment across industry sectors, based on the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS), Canada, 1987 – 2007

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

Consistent with previous studies (Tal, 2006), the data reveals that the selfemployment rates have declined steadily in the agricultural sector. Figure (4) documents agricultural self-employment as a proportion of total employment from the 1987 to 2007 time period. The declining role of agricultural self-employment is noticeable across all provinces and thus for Canada as a whole. The major decline is observed in provinces with a particular focus on agricultural production. For instance, in Saskatchewan the agricultural self-employment rate has decreased from 15.7% in 1987 to 7.1% in 2007. Similar declines in agriculture are observed in Alberta, Manitoba and Prince Edward Island. The data also shows that the decline in agricultural self-employment is smaller in provinces that do not focus primarily on agriculture, such as Ontario, Quebec or British Columbia. In sum, the gradual shift away from agriculture has changed the nature of selfemployment in Canada.





Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

A new variable – non-agricultural self-employment rate – can be generated by grouping the goods and service producing sectors together, while excluding the agricultural sector. The data show that non-agricultural self-employment rates have grown steadily in Canada. Figure (5) presents non-agricultural self-employment as a

proportion of total employment from 1987 to 2007. To compare the growth of nonagricultural self-employment between provinces I have calculated the annual growth rates. The highest annual growth rate in non-agricultural self-employment over this time period was accounted for in Ontario (1.7%) and Alberta (1.7%), followed by British Columbia (1.1%) and Quebec (1.0%). Canada as whole shows a 1.2% annual average growth rate of non-agricultural self-employment, since the number of self-employed increased from 11.2% in 1987 to 14.3% in 2007. In sum, a Figure (5) shows that the majority of the increase in self-employment was due to a rise in sectors other than agriculture. Therefore, this study uses the non-agricultural self-employment as a proportion of total employment in order to account for the ongoing employment declines in the agricultural sector.

Figure 5. Non agricultural self-employment as a percentage of total employment across all provinces, including Canada as a whole, 1987 – 2007



Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

3.3 Self-employment – Push or Pull?: A correlation analysis

The above pattern in the growth of self-employment can be better understood by examining the correlation between unemployment and non-agricultural self-employment. This analysis will also contribute towards an improved understanding of whether people are being pushed or pulled into self-employment. Workers are likely pushed if the number of self-employed people is rising while the number of employment is falling (or growing at a smaller rate) in case of poor job opportunities and times of economic distress. Workers are likely being "pulled" into self-employment if the employment is strong and self-employment is even stronger in a vision of better benefits and higher chances of success (Kamhi and Leung, 2005). For the purpose of this correlation analysis, the unemployment variable was collected from Statistic's Canada LFS table 282-0008.

Figure (6) shows the relationship between the unemployment rate and the nonagricultural self-employment rate for Canada, for the time period 1987 – 2007, including correlation coefficients. The data shows that non-agricultural self-employment has been steadily increasing since 1987 to 1997, whereas after 1999 we observe a dip in the nonagricultural self-employment rate followed by a recovery in 2002. The unemployment rate increased substantially between 1989 and 1993, reaching peak of 11.4% in 1993 during the recession, but then showing a significant and overall consistent decline until to 2007 (with the exception of 2000).

The correlation coefficients as shown in Figure (6) examine a relationship between the non-agricultural self-employment and unemployment. For Canada as a whole, the correlation coefficient is negative (-0.24) suggesting that workers are being pulled into self employment in a vision of better benefits and higher chance of success. The same negative relationship with even stronger coefficients are observed in Alberta (-0.69; P < 0.01), British Columbia (-0.59; P < 0.01), Saskatchewan (-0.47; P < 0.05), and Manitoba (-0.28). We conclude that in these provinces and in Canada as whole, non-agricultural self-employment is a dynamic and vibrant sector that people get pulled into. The majority of the remaining provinces have a positive relationship, although the correlation numbers are low and not highly significant, varying from 0.09 in Ontario to 0.12 in Nova Scotia. The exception is PEI with a relatively large and significant coefficient (0.53; P < 0.05).

Figure 6. Non-agricultural self-employment and unemployment in Canada 1987 – 2007, including correlation coefficients by province



Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, Author's own computation

To further examine self-employment using descriptive data, the following analysis focuses on the relationship between paid employment and non-agricultural selfemployment. This provides an indication of whether workers prefer to enter into paid employment or self-employment. Figure (7) shows the indexed number of paid employees and self-employed in all industries (1987 = 100). After 1990 the number of self-employed increased rapidly until 1997, while the number of paid employment dipped during the 1990-93 period indicating a higher new job creation in self-employment. Considering Kamhi and Leung, (2005) the increase in self-employment was caused by the deterioration in labour market conditions for employees in the early 1990s. In 1997 the economy recovered, and the figure clearly shows an end in the acceleration of selfemployment and an increase in paid employment. Kamhi and Leung (2005) suggest that the increase in self-employment during the 1990's was due to the increased attractiveness of the self-employment sector, rather than due to depressed conditions for paid employees. Similarly, the follow up decline in the self-employment rate after 1998 is more likely a result a reversal in the attractiveness of self-employment. Paid employment variables were collected from Statistic's Canada LFS table 282-0002 and represent all working individuals in the work force who are not self-employed.




Source: Statistics Canada, 2008, author's own computation

Chapter 4 – Regional Convergence Analysis

4.1 Empirical model

This section develops an econometric model of regional growth for the Canadian economy. The model focuses on isolating the role of entrepreneurship as an additional determinant of regional growth – that is, in addition to the conventional determinants often specified in the literature. The standard econometric model used for understanding the determinants of economic growth is a cross sectional growth regression. Given the limited number of provinces in Canada, using cross-sectional data would result in a problem with degrees of freedom. Therefore, previous work on Canadian growth (e.g., Coulombe and Lee, 1995; Coulombe, 1996) has relied on panel data of real per capita GDP and its determinants for all ten provinces observed over a period of time (usually 1980s to the 2000s).

The following econometric growth model is specified using panel data for ten different provinces in Canada from the 1987 to 2007 time period. In this analysis, the provincial data is divided into seven sub-periods, where each sub-period is three years in duration. Specifically, a growth regression is defined over an interval, *T*, for each sub-period between two points in time t_0 and $t_0 + T$ in the following general empirical model:

$$\left(\frac{1}{T}\right)\ln\left(\frac{y_{i,t_0+T}}{y_{i,t_0}}\right) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln y_{i,t_0} + \beta_2 \ln s e_{i,t} + \sum_j \beta_j \ln x_{i,j,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t},$$
(16)

where, i = 1, ..., 10 refers to regional index; t = 1, ..., 7 refers to each sub-period and T = 3is the length or duration of each sub-period. The slope coefficients β_i , represents the effect of initial conditions and regional attributes on growth. The error term $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ represents the effects all unobservable factors that are not included in the growth regression on the dependent variable (Wooldridge, 2003).

The specification of the determinants of the dependent variable - the output per worker - draws on the theoretical and empirical literature on economic growth. In general, the theoretical (and empirical) models of economic growth, as discussed in Section 2.1, point to two broad measurements of output in the model: income or GDP. The dependent variable employed in equation (16) is the growth rate of real GDP per worker (output per worker). The growth rate is defined over the three years sub period.

To understand the determinants of Canadian regional growth and to be able to statistically test if entrepreneurship has an impact on growth, we include a set of control variables $x_{i,j,t}$ in the growth regression. The explanatory variables include both determinants of growth as identified by the neoclassical growth model as well as other variables discussed in more recent growth models.²⁵ First, as specified by Solow (1956) we include a measure of $(g + n_{i,t} + \delta_{i,t})$, where g denotes to growth rate of technological progress (0.02), $n_{i,t}$ is the average population growth rate and $\delta_{i,t}$ is the depreciation rate of the capital stock. The term $(g + n_{i,t} + \delta_{i,t})$ is expected to have a negative affect on GDP growth since high population growth lowers the output variable (Mankiw et al., 1992).

²⁵ These variables were constructed in the dataset as an average value of each sub-period.

Second, we include a measure of the endowment of human capital in the economy as an additional important determinant of growth (Mankiw et al., 1992). In the study by Mankiw et al (1992) human capital in a country was expressed by the percentage of the working-age population that is in secondary school. Following this approach, to represent the endowment of human capital in a province, we use the number of people with a university degree as a proportion of the provincial population (age 25 and older). The human capital variable is expected to have a positive effect on GDP growth.

Third, we also include a measure of urbanization to account for the differences between rural and urban regions. Canada is a large country with a sparsely distributed population along a narrow band of land close to the US boarder (Coulombe, 2000). As from the above Section 2.3.3, empirical evidence suggests that the greater differences in economic growth and development between rural and urban regions in Canada, the greater we can expect consequences in terms of regional economic inequality (Ensign, 2008). In this thesis, urbanization is computed as the proportion of total population of a province that lives in urban areas. The urbanization variable was collected from a census dataset per five years periods from 1986 to 2006, and is expressed as a proportion of total provincial population. Provinces with higher rates of urbanization have a higher GDP per capita Coulombe (2003); therefore we expect the urbanization variable to have a positive sign.

As the fourth explanatory variable, we include a measure of visible minorities. There is an intensive debate in the literature regarding the economic value of the visible minority variable. For instance, some papers recognize visible minorities as an important contributor to economic growth. A study by the Antunes et al. (2004) found visible

67

minorities to be a large contributor to the real GDP growth, stating that "Canada's future prosperity relies on its people, including an increasing number of visible minorities" (p. 1). Other research on visible minorities distinguishes between Canadian born and immigrant minorities. Canadian-born minorities have higher earnings than immigrants (Hum and Simpson, 1999). The earnings gap is largely a reflection of quality differences in education, language proficiency and experience (de Silva, 1997).

The literature also suggests that most of the immigrant visible minorities in Canada have lower economic status in terms of high unemployment and low income rates (Hou, 2004). Such economic discrimination of visible minorities may play an important role in the labour markets in Canada (Pendakur and Pendakur, 1998). According to Harvey and Reil (2000) visible minorities did not benefit from the recent economic growth in Canada prior to 2000, and their economic situation in the labour market has worsened. Based on the above literature, there are no obvious analytical answers as to whether visible minorities have a positive or negative effect on the economy; an empirical investigation is required. The visible minority status employed in this thesis is based upon country of origin and self-reported identity. The minority variable has been collected from a census dataset per five years period from 1986 to 2006 and is expressed as a proportion of total provincial population.

Through the fifth variable, we account for paid workers in the economy by including the employment rate. Given the empirical evidence, higher employment rates tend to increase the economic growth by higher GDP growth rates. The employment rate is expected to have a positive effect on the output variable (Beckstead and Brown, 2005).

68

The employment rate is expressed as the number of people employed as a proportion of the provincial population (age 15 and older).

As the sixth variable, interprovincial net migration is included in the growth regression. The analysis aims to control for migration in our analysis since people who tend to migrate towards more urbanized and richer provinces have an effect on economic growth and regional disparities in Canada (Coulombe, 2003). The inter-provincial migrants are expected to have higher skill sets. The net migration variable is expressed annually as a proportion of the provincial population by subtracting out-migrants from in-migrants. It is expected that the inter-provincial net migration to have a positive effect on the dependent variable.

The seventh variable is net trade to study the effect of trade on regional growth. The net trade variable accounts for provincial imports and exports of goods and services into other provinces and countries (international and interprovincial). Considering the empirical literature, trade is expected to have a positive effect on the GDP growth rate and reduce the regional disparities by increasing the speed of convergence (Coulombe and Lee 1995). Net trade is expressed as exports of goods and services minus imports of goods and services.

Finally, the initial level of real GDP per worker (y_{i,t_0}) is included into the growth regression. This variable was created using a value from the first year of each sub-period. Based on the Solow neoclassical theory of growth, the coefficient on initial GDP is expected to be negative. A negative sign predicts convergence and shows that differences in per capita incomes among economies (regions) are transitory, and that regions with

low initial incomes will grow faster and catch up to economies with high initial incomes (while controlling for other determinants of economic growth).

Given the above empirical framework, to test the main hypothesis a selfemployment variable is included in the analysis ($se_{i,t}$). Including self-employment contributes to the existing empirical Canadian work by testing whether entrepreneurship plays a role as an additional determinant in accentuating regional growth. The selfemployment rate was constructed as a ratio of non-agricultural self-employment to total provincial employment, as expressed in equation (16).²⁶ The initial level in each subperiod is based on the non-agricultural (and non-unpaid family worker) self-employment rate as specified in equation (16).

Table (5) reports predicted signs, descriptive statistics and definitions for the dependent variable and all explanatory variables. The dependent variable is expressed as a growth rate in logarithmic form. All explanatory variables are expressed as an average value of each sub-period in their logarithmic forms.

²⁶ From the non-agricultural self-employment rate the unpaid family worker class were excluded in the analysis as it does not fall into "paid employment", "self-employment" or "un-employment" categories (Kuhn and Schutze, 2001).

GDP growth	Mean	Standard Deviation	Predicted sign	Definition
GDP growth rate	0.021	0.016		$1/3 * \ln[GDP(t+T)/GDP \text{ in } t)]$
Initial GDP	10.231	0.252	-	Ln(initial real GDP per worker)
n+g+δ	6.103	0.304	-	Ln(technical progress + population growth rate + depreciation rate)
University education	2.633	0.265	+	Ln(university education proportion of total population, 25 years and older)
Urbanization	4.158	0.234	+	Ln(urban population, proportion of total population)
Minority	1.176	1.087	+/-	Ln(visible minorities as a proportion total population)
Employment rate	4.048	0.116	+	Ln(number of employed persons as a proportion of the population 15 years of age and over)
Net Migration	1.709	9.206	+	(In migrants – out migrants)
Net Trade	-1.516	4.462	+	(Exports – imports of goods and services)
SE non-agri	2.568	0.138	+	Ln(total self-employed as a proportion of total employed minus the agriculture SE sector and unpaid family worker)

Table 5. Variable definitions, descriptive statistics and predicted signs

4.2 Panel data estimators - fixed and random effects models

In the model specified in equation (16), the data is of panel nature. For the model to be properly specified and to yield consistent estimates, we need to control for province-specific variables that affect economic growth. Since such provincial differences are unobservable, we rely on our access to panel data to help us control for the unobserved differences. Specifically, panel data allows us to explicitly control for unobserved time invariant province specific effects using random or fixed effects approaches (Gujarati, 2003).

With panel data, and without actual data on unobserved characteristics, one approach of accounting for unobserved heterogeneity and individual-specific omitted variables biases is to use a fixed effects model. This is often achieved by including a dummy variable for each province in the regression. However, estimating models with many dummy variables may reduce the number of degrees of freedom and also increases the chance of multicollinearity. Note that the assumption of a fixed effects model implies that differences across provinces are captured in differences in the constant term β_0 in equation (16) (Greene, 1997). In the standard case, the error term $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ is assumed to be independent and identically distributed over provinces and time with mean zero and variance σ_{ϵ}^{2} (Verbeek, 2004).

An alternative approach assumes that unobserved heterogeneity is not fixed but random, and consequently has a distribution. This leads to the specification of a random effects model. Unobserved heterogeneity β_0 in equation (16) under the random effects model is considered to be a random variable that represents individual specific effects. Consistency of the random effects estimator requires regressors $x_{i,j,t}$ and individual effects, β_0 , to be uncorrelated. In this thesis our choice of using a random or fixed effects model is based statistical criteria (the Hausman test).

The Hausman test helps investigate whether to treat the individual effects of β_0 as random or fixed (Hausman, 1978; Verbeek, 2004). Under the null hypothesis, the two estimators are both "good" and therefore should yield estimates that are similar. The alternative hypothesis is that the fixed effects model is better and the random effects model is a misspecification. The test exploits the fact that the random effects model assumes that the unobserved effects are uncorrelated with the regressors while the fixed effects model does not. If this assumption is violated then the random effects model is inconsistent, while fixed effects estimator is still consistent, and therefore there will be a difference in the coefficients of the two models. A larger difference implies a larger Hausman test statistic and a rejection that the two models are equivalent – and one should use fixed effects rather than random effects.

4.3 Estimation strategy

The objective of this section is to estimate a regional growth model for Canada, and to identify the role that self-employment plays in the economic growth of regions. The estimation strategy is to begin our specification of the econometric regression using the simplest growth theory and adding more variables based on newer and more complex growth models. Four different econometric models are estimated. In the first model, the growth of GDP per capita is regressed on a single explanatory variable -- the natural log of GDP per capita in the initial period (1987). This preliminary and baseline model allows us to test for unconditional convergence, since no other steady state conditioning variables are included as explanatory variables. The hypothesis of unconditional convergence implies a negative relationship between the GDP growth rate and initial GDP. If there is support for this hypothesis it implies that provinces with low initial incomes are growing faster and catching up with richer ones.

In the second model, an explanatory variable denoting sum of technical progress, population growth rate and depreciation rate $(g + n_{i,t} + \delta_{i,t})$ is added to the initial specification (above). This model allows us to test for conditional convergence while controlling for the standard growth determinants. Conditional convergence has been empirically tested by many previous authors (Barro and Sala-i-Martin, 1991).

The third model adds human capital and a set of regional growth determinants into the growth regression. By introducing human capital into Solow, the model explicitly accounts for different growth trajectories due to differences in education and skill sets of provinces. The regional growth factors introduced in this model are urbanization, visible minorities, employment rate, migration and trade. In the final and fourth model we introduce self-employment as an additional regressor to address the main objective of this study and to quantify the role of entrepreneurship in regional economic growth.

4.4 Results of econometric models

We apply the Hausman test to determine whether a fixed or a random effect model is more efficient. While estimating Models 1 to 4, the objective is to be consistent with the choice of using random or fixed effect method across all 4 models. Therefore, we apply the Hausman test to the most complete model (Model 4) and use the results of the test to decide on using fixed or random effects for all of the models that we estimate in this section. Recall that the null hypothesis for the Hausman test is whether or not the coefficients estimated by the random effects estimator are the same as the ones estimated by the fixed effects estimator. The test statistic is built on the differences between the two sets of estimates. We fail to reject the null hypothesis at the 5% level of significance, which implies that we can use the random effects specification.

Given that our main objective is to quantify the role of self-employment in economic growth we start the discussion of our econometric results by analyzing the

74

specification which includes self-employment as a growth covariate (Model 4, Column 4, Table 6). The R^2 measure of goodness of fit is 0.44. Most of the estimated coefficients are highly significant and have expected signs. A striking finding which provides strong support for the main hypothesis of this study is the positive and significant coefficient on the non-agricultural self-employment variable. We find that self-employment, although not included as a determinant in standard growth regressions for the Canadian economy, is in fact one of the most significant growth determinants. The effect of self-employment is a net effect on growth after holding constant the effect of other determinants such as trade, migration and urbanization which we discuss below.

Results from Model 1 to 3, presented in the first three columns of Table (6), also reveal interesting findings regarding the Canadian economy. The R^2 measures of goodness of fit for Model 1 to 3 range from 0.026 to 0.370. The estimated coefficients represent the effect of initial conditions and regional attributes on growth. In the first column, Model 1, the coefficient on the initial GDP is negative but not significant. Based on this finding alone, there is no evidence supporting the (unconditional) convergence theory for Canada. The coefficient on initial GDP in Models 2 and 3, however, are estimated as negative and statistically significant. These findings show that after conditioning on steady states in the growth regression, there is a significant tendency for convergence in provincial GDPs.

All of the coefficients of the variables in Models 2 and 3 have the expected signs and some are highly significant. The term $(g + n_{i,t} + \delta_{i,t})$ which controls for technology, population growth rate and depreciation rates was found positive in both Models 2 and 3. The coefficient on university education in Model 3 reported in the third column of Table (6), is positive and highly significant. Thus, consistent with our expectations, the analysis demonstrates the importance of human capital in the process of economic growth. More university educated workers in Canadian economy have a greater positive effect on productivity growth. This finding suggests that encouraging development of human capital, by investing into higher education, will increase economic growth.

The coefficients on the employment rate, urbanization, visible minorities, migration and trade were estimated in the third model. Not surprising, the employment rate was found to have a positive and highly significant impact on GDP growth. The urbanization variable was used to explore whether the population living in urban areas are an important determinant of regional economic growth or not. Consistent with predictions from economic theory, the third model yielded a coefficient on urbanization with a positive and significant sign. The higher the population is in urban provinces, the greater effect on economic growth. This finding is exactly the same as that in earlier studies, such as Coulombe (2003). The positive effect of urbanization on growth is a consequence of income and capital converging to highly urbanized and rich provinces.

In the present analysis, the estimated coefficient on visible minorities was found significant with a negative sign. One interpretation is that visible minorities appear to have a negative impact on the GDP growth rates. However, the expected sign, of visible minorities is an empirical issue which likely also depends on the level of disaggregation of the data. In the present analysis, an aggregated variable was employed that accounts for immigrants as well as Canadian-born visible minority. It is possible that once the data would be disaggregated between Canadian born and immigrant visible minorities, the above results could be different. Given the discussion in the literature on visible minorities, the estimation result in this thesis may contribute to addressing the ambiguity that currently rests with this important policy issue.

The net migration variable and the net trade variable were both found to be positive in Model 3. The inter-provincial net migration was found significant at the 10% level, indicating that migrants are considered as a significant factor that boosts economic growth. On the other hand, the net trade variable was not found to be significant in the growth regression. This finding is consistent with earlier results by Coulombe and Lee (1995) who also found that an increase in trade does not necessarily stimulate provinces to grow.

Model 4 with the inclusion of non-agricultural self-employment demonstrates that findings hold up to Models 1 to 3; only the migration variable becomes insignificant. The estimates also suggest that if the self-employment variable is controlled for in the analysis, inter-provincial migration does not impact productivity growth.

GDP growth	MODEL 1	MODEL 2	MODEL 3	MODEL 4
Initial GDP 1987	-0.012	*-0.024	** -0.058	***-0.077
	(0.008)	(0.015)	(0.023)	(0.023)
n+g+δ		0.014	0.007	0.007
		(0.015)	(0.020)	(0.018)
University education			** 0.042	**0.036
			(0.017)	(0.015)
Urbanization			*** 0.085	***0.065
			(0.024)	(0.024)
Minority			*** -0.028	***-0.023
			(0.006)	(0.006)
Employment rate			*** 0.087	***0.149
			(0.033)	(0.037)
Migration			* 0.001	0.001
			(0.001)	(0.001)
Trade			0.000	0.000
			(0.000)	(0.000)
SE non-agri				**0.031
				(0.015)
Constant	0.145	**0.178	-0.207	*-0.261
	(0.077)	(0.084)	(0.137)	(0.136)
R^2	0.026	0.072	0.370	0.438

Table 6. Tests for different econometric models

(Standard errors in parentheses)

(*, **, *** denote P < 0.1, P < 0.05, P < 0.01)

4.6 The effect of growth determinants on convergence

The following section demonstrates graphically the effect of growth determinants on the convergence parameter (the coefficient on initial income) in Canada. To do so we plot the magnitude of the convergence parameter for each of the models (Figure 8). In a sense the graphic demonstrates chronologically how empirical growth theory has evolved over the last four decades. The first bar in Figure (8) reflects the lack of unconditional convergence model since the coefficient of initial GDP per capita is negative but insignificant. The second bar is based on Model 2 which conditions on some steady-state determinants introduced by including the term $(g + n_{i,t} + \delta_{i,t})$ in the regression. After conditioning on the different steady state positions of provinces, the coefficient on initial GDP becomes negative and significant. This finding supports the theory of conditional convergence for Canada. The inclusion of additional variables to the growth regression in Models 3 and 4 increase the tendency towards convergence by increasing the magnitude of the coefficient on initial GDP. Thus, Figure (8) suggests that if provinces did not vary in their additional growth determinants, there would be a strong tendency for poor provinces to grow faster than rich ones, just as conditional convergence theory predicts. In the fourth model, the inclusion of non-agricultural self-employment in the analysis decreases the coefficient on initial GDP per capita even further, which improves the fit of the regression and suggests a faster convergence process.



Figure 8. Estimated coefficients on initial GDP in 1987 for different econometric models

(*, **, *** denote P < 0.1, P < 0.05, P < 0.01)

Chapter 5 – Vector Autoregression Analysis

5.1 Introduction to the VAR methodology

In this section we will continue with the estimation of the relationship between entrepreneurship (self-employment) and economic growth. In our earlier empirical analysis, we have shown that entrepreneurship plays a significant role in accentuating regional growth in the Canadian economy. Now we would like to pose a slightly different and more in-depth question – given that entrepreneurship triggers economic growth in Canadian regions – what is the *dynamic* impact of entrepreneurship on regional incomes? Is the impact permanent, whereby entrepreneurship in one period continues to have long run simulative effects on income? Or is entrepreneurship only a transient phenomena, marginal increases in which simply produces a blip in regional GDP levels and then disappears, without any long run effects? The answers to these questions are critical for a true understanding of the role of entrepreneurship because economic growth is inherently a dynamic phenomena.

Yet, there is a glaring absence of empirical research using dynamic modeling techniques to address these issues for the case of Canada. In this section we apply vector autoregression (VAR) methods to our panel dataset which spans the years 1987 to 2007. This analysis uncovers important, intuitive multiyear patterns of self-employment impacts not previously identified in the vast literature on economic growth in Canada.

Our hypothesis that entrepreneurship may have a dynamic impact on economic growth has a long standing history. Since the early 20th century, entrepreneurship has been identified as an "engine" of long run economic growth (e.g., Schumpeter, 1911). In the more recent literature, entrepreneurship has received attention as a key driver for

endogenous economic growth that can be sustained over time. For instance, Audretsch and Thurik (1999) pointed out that the countries which sustained greater rates of growth also experienced the greatest shift towards small enterprises. This is an important finding, since entrepreneurship is known as an innovative, skilled and highly creative activity which may have a long run effects on economic growth (Dejardin, 2000). However, not all self-employment is "good" self-employment, and the positive long run effects in any economy cannot be taken for granted (e.g., see Mohapatra et al., 2007); rather, the dynamics of entrepreneurial effects on regional GDP is an empirical question and one that we address for Canada in this section.

Recall (from Section 2.3.1) that the number of small businesses is on the rise in Canada. During the period 1976 – 2007, self-employment grew by an annual average of 2.6 per cent (Statistics Canada, 2008; authors' own computations), however there has been noticeable fluctuation over these three decades. There was significant growth between 1976-1989 followed by a more rapid growth in self-employment that occurred between 1990 and 1998; in the next 3 years period the growth slowed down and speed up again in 2007. These variations in self-employment across regions and over time will help us isolate the linkages between entrepreneurship and economic growth.

To study the dynamic impact of self-employment on regional incomes (or GDP levels), we apply a VAR model to our panel data. Our focus is on analyzing impulse-response functions -- an analytical tool that allows us to characterize the dynamic path of the response of a variable to a shock in other variables. Specifically, based on the impulse-response functions, we are able to identify the time path of changes in GDP to a unit increase in self-employment, while holding other shocks constant. Our hypothesis is

that, over time after controlling for other effects, the response of GDP will be positive and possibly permanent. If this hypothesis is supported by our data, then we will conclude that entrepreneurship can be an engine of long run growth and hence entrepreneurial policy should pay a closer attention releasing this potential in laggard regions. As mentioned earlier, there are no obvious analytical answers to whether or not the dynamic impact of self-employment on regional incomes is temporal or permanent; it demands empirical investigation.

5.2 Background of the VAR methodology

The VAR model suggested by Sims (1980) involves estimating a system of equations that represents the reduced form of an unknown dynamic structural model. Under this approach the main variables of interest are all treated as endogenous (unlike in our previous econometric analysis where self-employment was treated as an exogenous variable). Moreover, the VAR model imposes very few restrictions on the nature of linkages between the different variables and the dynamics over which the linkages evolve.

To see this more clearly, consider a two-system VAR as an example (for details on VAR models see Enders, 2004; Hamilton, 1994). Let y_t and z_t denote regional GDP and self-employment, respectively, observed at time t. The dynamic structural econometric model of the relationship between these two variables can be written as:

$$y_t = b_{10} - b_{12}z_t + \gamma_{11}y_{t-1} + \gamma_{12}z_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{yt},$$
(17)

$$z_{t} = b_{20} - b_{21}y_{t} + \gamma_{21}y_{t-1} + \gamma_{22}z_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{zt}.$$
(18)

The errors ε_{yt} and ε_{zt} are uncorrelated white-noise structural disturbances with constant variances. The coefficients b_{21} and b_{12} denote contemporaneous feedback linkages in the system while the γ coefficients represent system dynamics. As specified, the contemporaneous effects in the structural model above creates problems in estimation. This problem, that emerges due to the presence of contemporaneous effects, can be eliminated by deriving the reduced form of the system where the contemporaneous effects are normalized. To do so, we first rewrite the structural model in equations (17) and (18) in compact notation as:

$$Bx_t = \Gamma_0 + \Gamma_1 x_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t \tag{19}$$

where
$$B = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & b_{12} \\ b_{21} & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
, $x_t = \begin{bmatrix} y_t \\ z_t \end{bmatrix}$, $\Gamma_0 = \begin{bmatrix} b_{10} \\ b_{20} \end{bmatrix}$, $\Gamma_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{12} \\ \gamma_{21} & \gamma_{22} \end{bmatrix}$, $\varepsilon_t = \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon_{yt} \\ \varepsilon_{zt} \end{bmatrix}$

Premultiplying equation (19) with B^{-1} yields the reduced form VAR representation:

$$x_t = A_0 + A_1 x_{t-1} + e_t \tag{20}$$

where: $A_0 = B^{-1}\Gamma_0$ with typical element a_{i0} ; $A_1 = B^{-1}\Gamma_1$ with typical element a_{ij} ; $e_t = B^{-1} \varepsilon_t$ with typical element e_{it} . We assume that the reduced form VAR errors, e_{1t} and e_{2t} , which are composed of the structural white-noise errors, ε_{yt} and ε_{zt} , have zero means, constant variance and are individually serially uncorrelated $(E(e) = 0; E(e_t e_s') = 0 \quad \forall t \neq s; E(ee') = \Omega)$. The focus of our interest is on the coefficients in A_1 which characterize the dynamics of the system and feed into the computations of impulse response functions. Note that the difference between the systems (17) and (18) versus (20) is that the first is a structural model and the second is a VAR in reduced form. While we used the example of a 2 variable system - it is true that any dynamic structural econometric model can be represented by reduced form VAR (see Enders, 2004).

5.3 The impulse response function

Due to complex interactions and feedback between the variables in the model we use impulse-response function that summarize the *total* effect of a shock in one variable on the other and how the effect evolves over time. The impulse response function informs us of the sign and time path of the impact of one standard deviations shock (or some other chosen unit) on other variables in the system (Hamilton, 1994).

Technically speaking, the impulse-response function is based on the Vector Moving Average (VMA) representation. The VMA is a useful tool to study the relations between y_t and z_t sequences. The VMA representation allows tracing out the time path of various shocks on the variables contained in the VAR system. The representation specifies the response variable as function of the structural error terms:

$$x_t = \mu + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \phi_i \varepsilon_{t-i}.$$
 (21)

Note that ϕ_i (the impact per period) is made up of both the coefficients in A_1 (equation 20) as well as the contemporaneous effects (see Enders, 2005). The estimated coefficient $\phi_i(0)$ in the equation (21) is impact of one unit change (shock) in error term ε_{y_t} and ε_{z_t} on time path of y_t and z_t sequences.²⁷ In the same way $\phi_i(1)$ is the one period responses of unit changes in $\varepsilon_{y_{t-1}}$ and $\varepsilon_{z_{t-1}}$ on y_t . Updating to another period, $\phi_i(1)$ also represents the effects of unit change in ε_{y_t} and ε_{z_t} on y_{t+1} . The accumulated effects of

²⁷ $\phi_i(0)$ is the impact multiplier, (0) represents instantaneous shock.

unit impulses in ε_{yt} and/or in ε_{zt} can be obtained by summation of the coefficients of the impulse response functions. For example, after *n* periods, the effect of ε_{zt} on the value of y_{t+n} is ϕ_i (n) (Enders, 2004).

To identify the impulse response function, we have to impose restrictions. The estimation of the reduced form model yields fewer estimates than the number of parameters of the structural model. Therefore, to identify the system some restrictions on the parameters of the structural model are necessary. One way is to use the Choleski decomposition of variance-covariance matrix of residuals and set some of the contemporaneous effects to be zero. The error term of equation (21) can be decomposed as follows (e.g. where $b_{12}=0$):

$$e_{1t} = \mathcal{E}_{vt},\tag{22}$$

$$e_{2t} = \varepsilon_{zt} + b_{21}\varepsilon_{yt}. \tag{23}$$

Note that by imposing the restriction $b_{12} = 0$, impulse-responses will depend on the order of the variables in the VAR model. The importance of the ordering depends on the magnitude of the correlation coefficient between e_{1t} and e_{2t} .²⁸ Although if the correlation is small, or the error terms are uncorrelated, the ordering of the variables in the VAR system is not as important.

 $^{^{28}}$ For example the Choleski decomposition forces a one way recursive relation -- consider a system of equations in a VAR – Y1, Y2 and Y3. The Choleski decomposition imposes the restriction that Y1 contemporaneously affects Y2 and both have contemporaneous effects on Y3 and so on – but Y3 does not affect Y2 contemporaneously and neither does Y2 affect Y1 contemporaneously.

5.4 Estimating VAR with panel data

In our analysis we apply the VAR procedure to panel data.²⁹ This methodology combines the time-series VAR approach, which treats all variables in the model as endogenous, with the panel-data approach (Love and Ziccino, 2006). Using panel data we need to control for unobserved individual heterogeneity among regional units (e.g., differences in policies, resource endowments and other initial conditions etc.). One way, is to introduce fixed effects (as we did in our previous growth regression estimation in Section 4.2) to purge out the differences in underlying structure across provinces. However, with our panel VAR model, fixed effects estimation is complicated and we must take into consideration an econometric problem. The problem is that after applying fixed effects, for example using dummy variables, the unobserved province specific characteristics may be correlated with explanatory variables. For instance consider our VAR model (in equation 20) in a panel setting

$$x_{it} = A_0 + A_1 x_{it-1} + u_{it}, (24)$$

where
$$u_{it} = v_i + e_{it}$$

where, i = 1, ..., 10 refers to a regional index and t = 1, ..., 20 refers to a time index in each cross-section. v_i denotes unobserved province specific fixed effects and e_{ii} are white noise errors. Clearly x_{ii} depends on v_i ; this implies that x_{ii-1} also depends on v_i . But x_{ii-1} is an explanatory variable and v_i is (part of) the error term – this implies that an explanatory variable is correlated with the errors in the panel VAR making the OLS estimator biased (Baltagi, 2005).

²⁹ We would like to thank Inessa Love for allowing us to use the STATA codes for the panel VAR.

So we cannot use fixed effects, and to cope with the problem, we apply a transformation to first remove the individual effects. We use the Helmert transformation also referred to as forward mean-differencing (see Arellano and Bover, 1995). Applying this procedure the error term can be rewritten as: $\Delta u_{it} = \Delta v_i + \Delta e_{it}$ or $u_{it} - u_{i,t-1} = (v_i - v_i) + (e_{it} + e_{i,t-1}) = e_{it} + e_{i,t-1}$. The Helmert transformation removes the difference between each variable and its forward mean. In other words, to each of the first (T - 1) observations are subtracted the mean of the remaining future observations available in the dataset (Arellano and Bover, 1995). The Helmert transformation will allow the lagged right-hand side dependent variables to be uncorrelated with the error term. However, there still may be some leftover correlation between the explanatory variables (viz., the lagged dependent variable) and the error term. So the solution is to use the transformation and then use instrumental variables for X (which is x_{ii-1}) and estimate the model. This is usually done using General Method of Moments (GMM) (see Arellano and Bover, 1995). The mean-differenced lagged dependent variable will be instrumented with its past levels.

5.5 Model specification and estimation results

In our specification of the VAR model we chose to include the relationship between the following variables – GDP, self-employment, migration and trade. So in our econometric model (equation 24), x_i is specified as a four-variable vector (GDP, Selfemployment, migration and trade), while, as discussed earlier A_1 is a matrix of dynamic coefficients related to the four dependent variables in x_i and v_i is a vector of individual fixed effects (calculated using the Helmert procedure of forward mean-differencing). Note that the fixed effects are removed using the Helmert procedure. After some experimentation with different lag lengths, we found that five yearly lags encompassed all the significant dynamic relationships among the four variables quite well.

In our panel VAR model the variables are sorted with the following order: GDP, self-employment, migration and trade based on the size of the residual correlation matrix (Table 7). The correlation across errors of both equations in the panel VAR system is statistically insignificant suggesting that the ordering of variables we adopted should not matter (see Arias, 2007 for more details on orderings).

Table 7. Residual correlation matrix					
		Self-			
	GDP	employment	Migration	Trade	
GDP	1				
Self-employment	-0.151	1			
	(0.081)				
Migration	0.028	-0.073	1		
U	(0.748)	(0.400)			
Trade	0.008	-0.153	-0.135	1	
	(0.927)	(0.076)	(0.120)		

Table 7. Residual Correlation matrix	Table	• 7 .	Residual	correlation	matrix
--------------------------------------	-------	--------------	----------	-------------	--------

Notes: P-values are reported in parentheses. As suggested by the low correlation coefficient between self-employment and the GDP, migration and trade, the ordering of the variables made little difference to the estimated impulse response functions. The variables were ordered as shown in the table.

The variables used in the analysis are as follows:

• GDP – Annual GDP per worker (logged)

• Net Trade – Annual export of good and services minus import of good and services.

• **Migration** – Annual inter-provincial migration, out-migrants from in-migrants as a proportion of the provincial population

• Self-employment – Annual non-agricultural self-employment as a ratio of total provincial employment (logged)

5.5.1 Estimation results

The estimated coefficients of the economic system given in equation (24) are

reported in Table (8). While we are interested in the coefficients of the dynamic panel

VAR system, the real motivation of this work focuses on the dynamic reduced form effects of shocks to self-employment (and migration and trade) on regional economies. To simulate these effects we follow up estimation of the with impulse response function analysis which traces the effect of an innovation in one variable on the others.

Consistent with our hypothesis of entrepreneurship effects, a one standard deviation increase in self-employment initially increases GDP (in the first year, Figure 9). This increase escalates over the next couple of years and the stimulative effect of self-employment shock continues over time through the end of the period of analysis. Thus, we find strong support for our hypothesis that increases in self-employment has a *positive and permanent* effect on provincial incomes. Thus this econometric finding indicates that entrepreneurship can be used as an engine of long run growth and used as a policy tool for stimulating growth in laggard regions.





Notes: The X axis represents logged GDP per capita in \$CAD. The self-employment variable was shocked by one std. deviation.

The estimation results also show interesting findings for the migration and trade variables that are included in the panel VAR model. Figure (10) depicts the response of the GDP to the shock in one standard deviation in migration. We observe that an increase in net trade initially yields higher GDP in the first two years, as we would expect, but ultimately after the second year the effect of greater trade starts to diminish. This means that an increase in interprovincial and international trade has an immediate effect on growth in the short run, although this effect dies out in later periods. This result most likely shows that trade is not a long term determinant of growth it although has a short-term stimulative effects on the economy.

Figure 10. The impulse-responses function for GDP and migration. Response of GDP to migration shock



Notes: The X axis represents logged GDP per capita in \$CAD. The migration variable was shocked by one std. deviation.

A shock to the migration variable yields a similar response from regional income as a shock to the trade variable, although with more fluctuations (Figure 11). We observed that in the first year an impulse into migration increases GDP; in the second year, the level of GDP sharply declines. After the second year, GDP increases for the next three periods, however this increase eventually dies out and GDP starts to come back to its original, pre-shock level after the fifth period. Given this result it appears that an increase in the number of people who tend to migrate towards more urbanized and richer provinces has an initial high effect on the level of GDP but only in the short run. In the long run, after 5 years, the level of GDP would decline to the original level. Taken together and comparing only these three variables (self-employment, trade and migration) we conclude that self-employment is the factor that has the most bang for the buck and one that has the most lasting effects on economic growth.





Notes: The X axis represents logged GDP per capita in \$CAD. The trade variable was shocked by one std. deviation.

Table 8. Panel VAR regression results

		Self-		
	GDP	employment	Migration	Trade
GDP				
L1	***1.071	0.053	0.002	0.000
	0.158	0.049	0.002	0.001
L2	-0.204	0.063	-0.002	0.001
	0.142	0.040	0.001	0.001
L3	-0.050	0.028	**0.004	**-0.001
	0.123	0.048	0.002	0.001
L4	0.190	-0.038	-0.002	0.001
	0.108	0.042	0.002	0.001
L5	-0.090	0.029	-0.001	0.000
	0.081	0.039	0.001	0.001
Self-employ	ment			
L1	-0.083	***0.770	-0.001	-0.002
	0.305	0.128	0.003	0.001
L2	0.175	-0.021	-0.001	0.001
	0.271	0.117	0.003	0.001
L3	-0.277	-0.018	0.006	-0.001
	0.277	0.111	0.003	0.002
L4	0.084	-0.108	-0.005	0.001
	0.262	0.119	0.003	0.001
L5	0.052	0.151	0.003	0.000
	0.178	0.088	0.002	0.001
Migration				
L1	**-28.320	8.545	***0.896	0.015
	12.228	4.660	0.171	0.059
L2	24.844	3.829	***-0.558	0.041
	13.830	3.657	0.155	0.054
L3	0.600	2.938	0.256	-0.061
	11.218	3.889	0.168	0.062
L4	3.837	-0.431	0.010	0.070
	11.028	3.952	0.143	0.069
L5	-4.581	0.717	-0.131	-0.036
	7.066	3.394	0.100	0.043

Results of the Estimation by system GMM number of observations used : 135

		Self-		
	GDP	employment	Migration	Trade
Trade				
L1	47.035	-1.898	0.110	***1.224
	31.819	9.576	0.294	0.141
L2	*-48.428	-3.372	-0.064	-0.258
	27.848	9.208	0.247	0.174
L3	-30.445	-12.616	*0.637	0.045
	21.222	10.961	0.347	0.294
L4	**53.170	10.863	**-0.760	0.335
	22.938	8.194	0.368	0.217
L5	-21.784	-1.339	0.318	***-0.338
	18.535	5.485	0.270	0.097

(*, **, *** denote P < 0.1, P < 0.05, P < 0.01) Notes: Standard errors are presented in parentheses below the regression coefficients.

The four variables VAR model was estimated by GMM. All regression variables were de-meaned using a Helmert transformation.

Chapter 6 – Conclusions

6.1 Summary

This thesis analyzes the role of entrepreneurship, as measured by non-agricultural self-employment, in regional economic growth in Canada. It develops a regional economic growth model, based on the neoclassical growth theory (Solow, 1956). Through this growth model, regional economic disparity in Canada is analyzed, with an emphasis on the role of entrepreneurship. In order to explore endogeneity issues and long term growth effects of policy changes on entrepreneurship in the economy, dynamic modeling techniques are employed. Vector autoregression (VAR) analysis is applied to predict long-run effects of changes in policy and thus entrepreneurship on regional income in Canada. Both analyses yield statistically significant findings, providing information that could be used for further policy analyses. The descriptive analysis suggests that non-agricultural self-employment contributes importantly to the Canadian economy in terms of the creation of new employment. The descriptive analysis focuses on non-agricultural self-employment, since there has been a rapid decline of selfemployment in the agricultural sector. The analysis reveals a negative relationship between non-agricultural self-employment and unemployment. These findings suggest that workers are being pulled into the sector and possibly become entrepreneurs in a vision of better benefits and higher chances of success, compared to taking a career in paid employment. This finding is significant for Alberta, British Colombia and Saskatchewan.

Considering the regional economic growth model estimated, the findings suggest that entrepreneurship stimulates economic growth significantly in Canada. A large body of recent theoretical literature emphasizes the relevance of entrepreneurship in economic growth models. However, the empirical growth literature on Canada does not account for the role of entrepreneurship. Unlike previous empirical Canadian studies, this thesis accounts explicitly for entrepreneurship in the analysis on economic growth processes. After including non-agricultural self-employment into the growth regression, the estimation results suggest a positive and significant effect of non-agricultural self-employment on GDP growth rates. In this sense, the results suggest that economic growth models in Canada which do not account for the role of entrepreneurship have so far been misspecified.

The VAR analysis uncovers multiyear patterns of economic growth that have not been identified previously in the Canadian literature. It also reveals a positive and significant long-run dynamic relationship between non-agricultural self-employment and regional income. The VAR analysis includes three determinants of economic growth; migration, trade and self-employment. The estimated impulse response functions suggest that the major determinant of long-term growth is non-agricultural self-employment. After controlling for shocks to self-employment, the response of GDP levels to changes in non-agricultural self-employment are predicted to have positive long-run effect. Therefore, the results suggest that larger numbers of self-employed individuals in an economy are a sign of long term economic prosperity and progress.

6.2 Policy implications

Regional income inequalities are undesirable both from an economic and from a policy perspective. Despite the ongoing debate over the nature of the evolution of income

growth disparities, economic analyses predominantly show that regional income inequality impedes economic growth (e.g., Alasia, 2003; Coulombe and Tremblay, 2008). As a result of the structure of Canada's system of fiscal federalism, regional income inequalities put direct pressure on the federal budget. Consequently, the Canadian government has made the reduction of regional income disparities as one of its top priorities. This was reflected in the 2007-2008 federal budget, which introduced a renewed and stronger equalization program (providing approximately \$1.9 billion more over the next two years than the previous program), to tackle inter-provincial differences in income (Finance Canada, 2007). An improved understanding of the extent of and the reasons for regional income gaps is therefore critical for Canadian policymakers who are seeking to accelerate regional growth and diminish regional income disparities.

The so-called "innovation report" by the Council of Canadian Academies (2009) focuses on the long run determinants of economic growth and productivity. The analysis suggests that Canada has a serious productivity problem, which is rooted in weak business innovation and in the low effectiveness with which labor and capital are used in the economy. Considering the issue of productivity growth, the report suggests to sharpen the incentives for innovation-oriented business strategies, specifically by focusing on increasing exposure to competition and by promoting exports. Thus, developing stronger export orientation of Canadian small businesses, and ensuring that those firms have access to affordable sources of financing for export development can be expected to help to firms to succeed in global markets.

Empirical work from Fritsch (2008) also suggests that the growth of new businesses in national markets can be achieved by advocating policies that are directed at

96

stimulating entry of new entrepreneurs, and that decrease administrative barriers to the development of new businesses. Consequently, a supportive business environment that stimulates the growth of self-employment can not only be expected to have positive implications on domestic income growth, but also on the competitiveness of small businesses in national and international markets. In this sense, the results of this thesis contain valuable policy implications, as the results suggest that non-agricultural self-employment is an important engine for innovation and economic growth in Canada.

6.3 Limitations and future research

When considering the above findings, several limitations of this study should be taken into account. We can distinguish two key limitations, one relates to the employed methodology and a second relates to the collected data.

The majority of the empirical literature on convergence that uses growth regression analysis has been criticized more recently. This empirical work uses cross sectional regression while controlling for a set of initial conditions that affect the long run growth trajectories of regional economies. If the coefficient on the initial income level is negative, it is taken as evidence that poor regions are catching up with rich ones, and that regional income disparities are narrowing. However, this empirical approach has been critiqued in a series papers by Quah (1993a; 1993b, 1996a, 1996b; also see Durlauf and Johnson, 1995; Cheshire and Magrini, 2000). Future research of this type could consider recent advances in methodology for studying growth processes based on distributional dynamics methods (e.g. Markov models). A Markov model is a tool for analyzing the evolution of systems over time. At the heart of the Markov model is a transition probability matrix which can help to explain how the distribution of regional income levels evolve over time. The Markov model reveals changes in the shape of the regional income distribution from one period to the next, and thus could contribute to identify the probabilities with which a given province remains in the initial income state, or transitions to other states, while accounting for the effect of entrepreneurship. In other words, a Markov model can help explain how income growth unfolds over time with respect to self-employment and other controlled variables. Thus, as an extension of this thesis, a regional Markov model could be estimated using maximum likelihood methods, thus potentially improving our understanding of the regional convergence process among Canadian provinces (e.g. Kay, 1986; Jackson et al., 2003 and Sakamoto and Islam, 2008).

Considering the limitations of our data, we encountered two issues. First, nonagricultural self-employment was used as a proxy for measuring "entrepreneurship". Other measures of entrepreneurship that may be more suitable to represent entrepreneurial activity were unavailable at the provincial level (e.g., the rate of new business formation; a distinction of non-agricultural self-employment by firm size to test for growth differences by firm size and its relationship to unemployment, i.e., Gibrat's Law).

The second issue relates to the level of aggregation of the data used for the analysis. For the purpose of this thesis, data was collected for ten Canadian provinces. Census data may be more appropriate as it is collected from 280 census divisions covering the entire country. The advantage of census data (which is, however, only

98

available every five years) over provincial data is that it provides more detailed demographic information. Census data would allow an assessment of the rural and urban trends in a broader regional context, and therefore potentially provide a more comprehensive assessment of the differences between rural and urban regions (Alasia, 2003).

Since the focus of this thesis is to tackle inter-provincial differences in GDP, the decision was made to collect provincial data instead of census division data. The key advantage of using provincial data from Statistics Canada's CANSIM database is that annual data could be used in the analysis. However, the provincial level of aggregation does not allow for more detailed single agent data with regards to innovative performance of firms in terms of R&D, or information related to education. While education of self-employed has been addressed at the provincial levels, specific effects related to how tacit knowledge verses formal knowledge affect provincial income growth could not be accounted for. It was also not possible to distinguish self-employed in the non-agricultural sector in terms of their skill-set, as it is distinct from knowledge.

Furthermore, the analysis does not account for interprovincial differences in market structure and its relationship to innovation and economic growth. This aspect is significant, since the literature has established three aspects of market structure which can affect the relative innovative advantage of small (and large) firms: the size distribution of firms, the existence of certain barriers to entry, and the stage of the industry in the product life- cycle (Acs and Audretsch, 1987).

In sum, perhaps the most significant limitation that arises from the aggregate nature of the dataset relates to the inability of the analysis to link innovation (product and/

99
or process innovation) with entrepreneurship. Although we have evidence that the propensity to innovate is related to entrepreneurial activity, and that entrepreneurship is commercialized through innovative activity (e.g., Acs and Audretsch 1990; Baumol, 2002b; Agarwal et al., 2007), as part of this thesis no matching data could be obtained to identify cross- provincial patterns of entrepreneurship and innovation, and to link this to economic growth.

Considering the above data limitations in terms of the inability of the analysis to control for innovative activity and for differences in market structure, the policy recommendations emerging from this thesis should be interpreted with a corresponding degree of caution. Furthermore, the analysis in this thesis cannot be used to strictly identify policy implications in the absence of quantifying social welfare measures. Keuschnigg and Nielsen (2001) emphasize that public policy towards entrepreneurship and the formation of new businesses should be guided by its welfare implications. Thus, to quantify welfare gains e.g. from government services (training, infrastructure), subsidies and investments, as they potentially stimulate entrepreneurship, an even more detailed analysis of entrepreneurship and Canadian economic growth would be needed.

References:

Acs, Z. J. and D. B. Audretsch, (1987). Innovation, Market Structure and Firm Size. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 69: 567-75.

Acs, Z. J., D. B. Audretsch and D. S. Evans (1994). Why Does the Self-Employment Rate Vary Across Countries and Over Time? Discussion Paper No. 871, Centre for Economic Policy Research.

Acs, Z. J., D. B. Audretsch and D. S. Evans (1994). Why Does the Self-Employment Rate Vary Across Countries and Over Time? Discussion Paper No. 871, Centre for Economic Policy Research.

Acs, Z. J., D. B. Audretsch, P. Braunerhjelm and B. Carlsson (2005). The Knowledge Spillover Theory of Entrepreneurship. CEPR Discussion Papers 5326, C.E.P.R. Discussion Papers.

Agarwal, R., D. B. Audretsch, and M. B. Sarker (2007). The process of creative construction: Knowledge spillovers, entrepreneurship and economic growth. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 1(3–4): 263–286.

Alasia, A. (2003). Sub-Provincial Income Disparity in Canada: Evidence from 1992 to 1999. Statistics Canada, Working Paper No. 63.

Anderson, F. (2005). B.C. Income Growth Lags Behind Rest of Canada: Province's Standard of Living is Slipping. Report by the Business Council of B.C. Vancouver Sun. Available at: <u>http://www2.canada.com/vancouver/vancouversun/news/</u> westcoastnews/story.html?id=fd4b3839-0f38-42ee-8bdf-385b3c505a88. (Accessed January 16, 2009).

Antunes, P., J. L. MacBride-King and J. Swettenham (2004). Making a Visible Difference: The Contribution of Visible Minorities to Canadian Economic Growth. Available at: <u>http://www.ncvm-cnmv.gc.ca/files/570-04makingavisibledifference-briefing.pdf</u>. (Accessed December 20, 2009).

Arellano, M. and O. Bover (1995). Another Look at the Instrumental Variable Estimation of Error Component Models. *Journal of Econometrics*, 68: 29–51.

Arias, O. (2007). Assessing Trends in Informality in Argentina: a Cohorts Panel VAR Approach. The World Bank. Working Paper Series.

Audretsch, D. B and Z. J. Acs (1990). Innovation and Small Firms. MIT Press.

Audretsch, D. B. and M. Fritsch (1994). The Geography of Firm Births in Germany, *Regional Studies*, Taylor and Francis Journals, 28(4): 359-365.

Audretsch, D. B. and R. Thurik (1999). Innovation, Industry Evolution and Employment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Audretsch, D. B. and R. Thurik, (2001). Linking Entrepreneurship to Growth. OECD Science, Technology and Industry Working Papers 2001/2, OECD, Directorate for Science, Technology and Industry.

Audretsch, D. B., M. A. Carree and A.R. Thurik (2001). Does entrepreneurship reduce unemployment? Erasmus University, Rotterdam, Discussion paper TI01-074/3.

Audretsch, D. B. and M. Keilbach (2006). Entrepreneurship as a Conduit for Knowledge Spillovers A Panel Analysis of Spatial Interaction for Germany. Presented at the ADRES International conference, Saint-Etienne, France, September 14-15.

Baltagi, B. H. (2005). Econometric analysis of panel data. Wiley. New York.

Barkley, D. L., M. S. Henry, and S. Bao (1996). Identifying 'Spread' versus 'Backwash' Effects in Regional Economic Areas: A Density Functions Approach. *Land Economics*, 72(3): 336-357.

Barro, R. J. (1989). A Cross-Country Study of Growth, Saving, and Government. National Bureau of Economic Research, working paper No. 2855.

Barro, R J. (1991). Economic Growth in a Cross Section of Countries. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 106(2): 407-443.

Barro, R. J. and X. Sala-i-Martin (1991). Convergence across states and regions. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1, 107-158.

Barro, R. J. and X. Sala-i-Martin. (1995). Economic Growth. New York. McGraw-Hill.

Baumol, J. W. (1986). Productivity Growth, Convergence, and Welfare: What the Long-Run Data Show. *American Economic Review* 76: 1072-1085.

Baumol, J. W. (2002a). Entrepreneurship, Innovation and Growth: The David Goliath Symbiosis. New York University, Article based on the book: The Free-Market Innovation Machine: Analyzing the Growth Miracle of Capitalism, Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2002.

Baumol, W. (2002b). *The free market innovation machine: Analyzing the growth miracle of capitalism*. Princeton, Princeton University Press.

Beckstead, D. and M. W. Brown (2005). Provincial Income Disparities through an Urban-Rural Lens: Evidence from the 2001 Census. Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 11-624-MIE, No. 012.

Biggs, T. (2002). Is small beautiful and worthy of subsidy? International Finance Corporation, Washington, USA.

Blanchflower, D. G. and A. J. Oswald (1998). What Makes an Entrepreneur? *Journal of Labor Economics*, 16: 26-60.

Blanchard, O. (1989). A Traditional Interpretation of Macroeconomic Fluctuations. *American Economic Review*, 79(4): 1146 - 1144.

Bleaney, M., N. Gemmell and R. Kneller (2001). Testing the Endogenous Growth Model: Public Expenditure, Taxation, and Growth over the Long Run. *The Canadian Journal of Economics*, 34(1): 36-57.

Bollman, R. D., A. M. Fuller, and P. Ehrensaft (1992). Rural Jobs: Trends and Opportunities. *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 40: 605-622.

Bosma, N. S., Z. J. Acs, E. Autio, A. Coduras and J. Levie (2009). Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2008. Executive Report, Global Entrepreneurship Monitor. Available at: <u>http://www3.babson.edu/ESHIP/research-publications/upload/GEM</u> <u>GlobalJan09v2-2.pdf</u>. (Accessed January 03, 2010).

Bound, J., C. Cummins, Z. Griliches, B. H. Hall, A. B. Jaffe (1982). Who Does R&D and Who Patents? In Z. Griliches, (1987) R&D, Patents, and Productivity, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Bowlby G. (2005) Use of the Canadian Labour Force Survey for Collecting Additional Labour-related Information, Presented at: International Labour Office (ILO), Geneva, October 24-26, 2005.

Cameron, M. D. (1981). Regional Economic Disparities: The Challenge to Federalism and Public Policy. *Canadian Public Policy*, 7(4): 500- 505.

Carlino, G. A. and R. Voith (1992). Accounting for differences in aggregate state productivity, *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 22: 587-617.

Carlino, G. A. and L. O. Mills (1993). Are U.S. regional incomes converging? A time series analysis. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 32: 335–346.

Carree, M. A. and A. R. Thurik (1998). Small firms and economic growth in Europe. *Atlantic Economic Journal*, 26(2): 137-146.

Carree, M. A. and A. R. Thurik (2003). The impact of entrepreneurship on economic growth, in Audretsch, D.B., Acs, Z.J. (Eds), Handbook of Entrepreneurship Research, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, MA and Dordrecht, 437-71.

Castany, L., E. Lopez-Bazo, and R. Moreno (2005). Differences in total factor productivity across firm size: A distributional analysis. University of Barcelona Working Paper.

Cheshire, P. and S. Magrini (2000). Endogenous Processes in European Regional Growth: Convergence and Policy. *Growth and Change*, 31(4): 455–479.

Coulombe, S. and F.C. Lee (1995). Convergence across Canadian Provinces, 1961 to 1991. *The Canadian Journal of Economics*, 28(4a): 886-898.

Coulombe, S. (1996). Long-run Perspective on Canadian Regional Convergence. Industry Canada, Working Paper Number 11.

Coulombe, S. (1999). Economic Growth and Provincial Disparity: A New View of an Old Canadian Problem. C.D. Howe Institute Commentary. No 122.

Coulombe, S. and M. K. Day (1999). Economic Growth and Regional Income Disparities in Canada and the Northern United States. *Canadian Public Policy*, 25(2): 155-178.

Coulombe, S. (2000). New Evidence of Convergence across Canadian Provinces: The Role of Urbanization. *Regional Studies*, 34(8):713-725.

Coulombe, S. and J. F. Tremblay (2001). Human Capital and Regional Convergence in Canada. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 28(3): 154-180.

Coulombe, S., (2003). Human Capital, Urbanization and Canadian Provincial Growth. *Regional Studies Association*, 37(3): 239-250.

Coulombe, S. and J. F. Tremblay (2008). Migration and Skills Disparities across the Canadian Provinces. *Regional Studies*, 43(1): 5-18.

Council of Canadian Academies (2009). Innovation and Business Strategy: Why Canada Falls Short. Report of the Expert Panel on Business Innovation, Ottawa, ISBN 978-1-926558-14-1.

Cunningham, R. and D. R. Bollman (1996). Structure and Trends of Rural Employment: Canada in the Context of OECD Countries. Working paper for Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 21-601-MIE96030. Presented at International Symposium: Perspectives on Rural Employment, Coaticook, Quebec, 11-14 October 1995.

de Silva, A. (1997). Wage Discrimination against Visible Minority Men in Canada. *Canadian Business Economics*, 5(4):25-42.

Dejardin, M. (2000). *Entrepreneurship and economic growth: An obvious conjunction?* Namur, Belgium: University of Namur.

DeJuan, J. and M. Tomljanovich (2005). Income Convergence across Canadian Provinces in the 20th Century: Almost but not quite there. *The Annals of Regional Science* 39:567–592.

Disney, R., J. Haskal, and Y. Heden (2003). Restructuring and productivity growth in UK manufacturing. *The Economic Journal*, 113: 666–694.

Durlauf, S. and P. Johnson. (1995). Multiple regimes and cross-country growth behavior. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 10: 365-84.

Economic Council of Canada. (1964). First Annual Review: Economic Goals for Canada to 1970. Ottawa: Queen's Printer.

Enders, W. (2004). *Applied Econometric Time-Series*. 2nd ed. John Wiley and Sons: New York.

Ensign, C. P. (2008). Small Business Considerations in Canada: The Resurgence of Regionalism. *Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 17(1): 37-47.

Feser, E. and M. A. Isserman (2006). Harnessing Growth Spillovers for Rural Development: The Effects of Regional Spatial Structure. Report to USDA Rural Development, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Finance Canada (2007) Budget 2007: Aspire to a Stronger, Safer and Better Canada. Department of Finance Canada. Cat. No.: F1-23/2007-2E. ISBN 978-0-662-45411-3.

Fölster, S. (2000). Do Entrepreneurs Create Jobs? *Small Business Economics*, 14(2): 137–148.

Fritsch, M. (2008). How Does New Business Formation Affect Regional Development? Introduction to the Special Issue. *Small Business Economics*, 30(1): 1-14.

Gartner, W.B. (1989). Who is an Entrepreneur? Is the Wrong Question. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 13: 47-68.

Geroski, P. (1995). What do we Know about Entry? *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, 13: 421–440.

Greene, W. H. (1997). *Econometric Analysis*. 3rd ed. Prentice-hall International Inc. New York.

Grossman, G. M and E. Helpman (1994). Endogenous Innovation in the Theory of Growth. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 8(1): 23-44.

Gujarati, D. N. (2003). *Basic Econometrics, Fourth Edition*. McGraw Hill, New York, NY.

Hagedoorn, J. and M. Cloodt (2003). Measuring Innovative Performance: is there an Advantage in Using Multiple Indicators? *Research Policy*, Elsevier, 32(8): 1365-1379.

Hamilton, J. D. (1994). Time Series Analysis. Princeton University Press: Princeton, N.J.

Hart, M. and E. Harvey (1995). Job Generation and New and Small Firms: Some Evidence from the Late 1980s. *Small Business Economics*, 7: 97-109.

Harvey, E. B. and K. Reil (2000). An Analysis of Socioeconomic Situation by Ethnocultural Groups, Period of Immigration and Gender for Canada and Toronto CMA, 1986, 1991 and 1996 Compared. Available at: <u>http://ceris.metropolis.net/Virtual%20</u> <u>Library/economic/harvey2.htm</u>. (Accessed April 15, 2009).

Hausman, J.A. (1978). Specification Tests in Econometrics. *Econometrica*, 46: 1251-1271.

Hou, F. (2004). Recent Immigration and the Formation of Visible Minority Neighbourhoods in Canada's Large Cities. Business and Labour Market Analysis Division, Statistics Canada 11F0019MIE No. 221.

HRDC, (2000). Lessons Learned Own-Account Self-Employment in Canada, Final report, SP-AH044E-02-98.

HRSDC (2009). Financial Security - Standard of Living Human Resources and Skills Development Canada. Available at: <u>http://www4.hrsdc.gc.ca/.3ndic.1t.4r@-eng.jsp?preview=1&iid=26</u>. (Accessed December 10, 2009).

Hum, D. and W. Simpson (1999). Wage Opportunities for Visible Minorities in Canada. *Canadian Public Policy*, 25: 379-394.

Jackson, C.H., L.D. Sharples, S. G. Thompson, S. W. Duffy and E. Couto (2003). Multistate Markov Models for Disease Progression with Classification Error. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series D (The Statistician)*, 52(2): 193–209.

Jones, C. I. (2002). *Introduction to Economic Growth*. 2nd ed. W. W. Norton & Company: New York.

Kaldor, N. and J. Mirrlees (1962). A New Model of Economic Growth. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 29: 174-192.

Kamhi, N. and D. Leung (2005). Recent Developments in Self-Employment in Canada, Bank of Canada, Working Paper 2005-8, ISSN 1192-5434.

Kay, R. (1986). A Markov Model for Analysing Cancer Markers and Disease States in Survival Studies. *Biometrics*, 42: 855-865.

Keuschnigg C. and S. Nielsen (2001). Public Policy for Venture Capital. *International Tax and Public Finance*, 8: 557–572.

Kuhn, J.P. and J.H. Schuetze (2001). Self-Employment Dynamics and Self-Employment Trends: A Study of Canadian Men and Women, 1982-1998. *The Canadian Journal of Economics*, 34(3): 760-784.

Lee, F. C. (1996). Convergence in Canada? *The Canadian Journal of Economics*, 29(1): S331-S336.

Leeuwen, B. (2006). The role of Human Capital in Endogenous Growth in India, Indonesia and Japan, 1890-2000. Presented at the XIV International Economic History Congress, Helsinki 2006.

Lin, Z., J. Yates and G. Picot (2000), The Entry and Exit Dynamics of Self-Employment in Canada. *Small Business Economics*, 15: 105–125.

Link, A. and L. J. Rees (1990). Firm Size, University Based Research, and the Returns to R&D. *Small Business Economics*, 2: 25-31.

Love, I. and L. Ziccino (2006). Financial Development and Dynamic Investment Behaviour: evidence from Panel VAR, *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 46: 190-210.

Lucas, R. (1988). On the Mechanics of Economic Development. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 22: 3–42.

Lumpkin, G. T. and G. G. Dess (1996). Clarifying the Entrepreneurial Orientation Construct and Linking it to Performance. *The Academy of Management Review*, 21(1): 135-172.

Lütkepohl, H. (1993). *Introduction to Multiple Time Series Analysis*. Springer-Verlag: Berlin.

Maddison, A. (2003). The World Economy: Historical Statistics. OECD publishing: Paris.

Mankiw, N. G., D. Romer and D. N. Weil (1992). A Contribution to the Empirics of Economic Growth. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 107(2): 407-437.

Mansfield, E. (1968), Industrial Research and Technological Change: An Econometric Analysis, W.W. Norton and Company: New York, NY.

McInnis, M. (1968). The Trend of Regional Income Differentials in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Economics*, 1: 440–470.

McQuinn, K. and T. K. Whelan (2006). Conditional Convergence Revisited: Taking Solow Very Seriously. Research Technical Paper, Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland.

Mohapatra, S., C. Barrett and D. Snyder (1999). The Dynamic Effects of U.S. Food Aid. *Economic Inquiry*, 37(4): 647-656.

Mohapatra, S., S. Rozelle, and R. Goodhue (2007). The Rise of Self-Employment in Rural China: Development or Distress? *World Development*, 35(1): 163-181.

Moore, R. L. (1983). Employer Discrimination: Evidence from Self-employed Workers. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 65: 496–501.

Moore, S.C. and E. R. Mueller, (1998). The Transition into Self-Employment in Canada: The Importance of Involuntary Separation and Unemployment Duration, Canadian International Labour Network (CILN), International Conference on Self-Employment, Burlington, Ontario, September 24-26.

OECD (2009). *National Accounts of OECD Countries*, OECD publishing, ISBN: 9789264073920.

Pendakur, K. and R. Pendakur (1998). The Colour of Money: Earnings Differentials Among Ethnic Groups in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Economics*, 31(1): 518-48.

Piergiovanni, R., E. Santarelli, L. Klomp and A. R. Thurik (2003). Gibrat's Law and the Firm Size/Firm Growth Relationship in Italian Small Scale Services. *Revue d'Economie Industrielle*, 102: 69-82.

Plessis, V. (2004). Self-employment activity in rural Canada. Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 21-006-XIE, Available at: <u>http://dsp-psd.tpsgc.gc.ca/Collection</u>/<u>Statcan/21-006-X/21-006-XIE2004005.pdf</u>. (Accessed November 23, 2008).

Praag, M. and P. H. Versloot (2008). The Economic Benefits and Costs of Entrepreneurship: A Review of the Research. *Foundations and Trends in Entrepreneurship*, 4(2): 65-154.

Quah, D. (1993a). Galton's Fallacy and Tests of the Convergence Hypothesis. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, 95(4): 427-443.

Quah, D. (1993b). Empirical Cross-Section Dynamics in Economic Growth. *European Economic Review*, 37: 426-434.

Quah, D. (1996a). Empirics for Economic Growth and Convergence. *European Economic Review*, 40(6): 1353-75.

Quah, D. (1996b). Twin Peaks: Growth and Convergence in Models of Distribution Dynamics. *Economic Journal*, 106: 1045-1055.

Ray, D. (1998). Development Economics. Princeton University Press: New Jersey.

RBC (2007), RBC Lowers Ontario's Growth Forecasts, TORONTO. Available at: <u>http://www.rbc.com/newsroom/pdf/20071012economic-on.pdf</u>. (Accessed January 16, 2009).

Romer, P. M. (1990). Endogenous Technological Change. *Journal of Political Economy*, 98: 71-102.

Romer, P. M. (1994). The Origins of Endogenous Growth. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 8(1): 3-22.

Ruttan, V. W. (2001) *Technology, Growth, and Development: An Induced Innovation Perspective.* Oxford University Press: Oxford.

Sakamoto, H and N. Islam (2008). Convergence across Chinese Provinces: An Analysis Using Markov Transition Matrix. *China Economic Review*, 19(1): 66-79.

Scherer, F. M., (1965) Size of Firm, Oligopoly and Research: A Comment. *Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science*, 31: 256-266.

Schuetze, H. J. (1998). Taxes, Economic Conditions and the Recent Trends in Male Self-Employment: A Canada-U.S. Comparison, 1998 Canadian Economics Association meetings, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario.

Schumpeter, A. J. (1911) *The Theory of Economic Development*. Harvard University Press, 1934: Cambridge.

Schumpeter, J. (1942). *From* Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy. Harper, 1975 [orig. pub. 1942]. New York.

Schumpeter A. J. (1947). Theoretical Problems: Theoretical Problems of Economic Growth. *The Journal of Economic History*, Supplement: Economic Growth: A Symposium, 7: 1-9.

Sen, A. (1988). The Concept of Development, Handbook of Development Economics, in: Hollis Chenery & T.N. Srinivasan (ed.), Handbook of Development Economics, Elsevier ed. 1, 1(1): 9-26.

Shearmur, R. and M. Polèse (2001). Economic Development in Canadian Peripheral Regions, 1971 to 1996. A Statistical Overview. Montreal INRS UCS.

Sign, Vik, (2002). Rural Income Disparities in Canada: A Comparison across the Provinces. Minister of Industry, Rural and Small Town Canada Analysis Bulletin Catalogue no. 21-006-XIE, Vol. 3, No. 7.

Sims, C. A. (1980). Macroeconomics and Reality. Econometrica, 42(1): 1-49.

Singh, V., (2002). Rural Income Disparities in Canada: A Comparison Across the Provinces, Rural and Small Town Canada Analysis. Bulletin Catalogue no. 21-006-XIE, Vol. 3, No. 7.

Solow, R. M. (1956). A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Growth. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 70(1): 65-94.

Statistics Canada (2006). Census of Population, Statistics Canada catalogue no. 97-558-XCB2006022.

Statistics Canada (2007). The Canadian Labour Market at a Glance, Labour Statistics Division, Catalogue no. 71-222-X, Available at: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/71-222-x/71-222-x/008001-eng.pdf</u>. (Accessed November 19, 2009).

Statistics Canada (2008). Labour Force Survey Estimates (LFS), Available at: <u>http://estat.statcan.ca.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/cgi-win/CNSMCGI.EXE</u>. (Accessed August 1, 2008).

Statistics Canada (2009). Guide to the Labour Force Survey, Catalogue no. 71-543-G, Available at: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/71-543-g/71-543-g2009001-eng.pdf</u>. (Accessed January 27, 2010).

Tal, B. (2005). For Love or Money? A Study of Entrepreneurship in Canada. CIBC Economics and Strategy. Available at: <u>http://www.cibc.com/ca/pdf/entrepreneurship-study.pdf</u>. (Accessed February 6, 2009).

Tal, B. (2006). Small Business in Canada: Trends and Prospects, CIBC Economics and Strategy, Available at: <u>http://www.cibc.com/ca/pdf/world-markets/09112006_sbtt.pdf</u>. (Accessed February 6, 2009).

Tal, B. (2008). Braving the Storm, CIBC Economics and Strategy, Available at: <u>http://research.cibcwm.com/economic_public/download/sbr-20081006.pdf</u>. (Accessed July 20, 2009).

van der Eng, P. (1992). The real Domestic Product of Indonesia, 1880-1989. *Explorations in Economic History*, 29(3): 343-373.

Varblane, U. and P. Vahter (2005). An Analysis of the Convergence Process in the Transitional Countries. Tartu University Press.

Verbeek, M. (2004), *A Guide to Modern Econometrics*. 2nd ed. Wiley: Southern Gate, Chichester.

Wennekers, A. R. M. and A.R. Thurik (1999). Linking Entrepreneurship and Economic Growth. *Small Business Economics*, 13: 27-55.

Wernerheim, M. C. and C. A. Sharpe (2005). Employment and Location Patterns of Advanced Services in Non-Urban Canada. *The Service Industries Journal*, 25:2, 181 – 211.

Wiklund, J. and A. D. Shepherd, (2008). Portfolio Entrepreneurship: Habitual and Novice Founders, New Entry, and Mode of Organizing. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 32(4): 701-725.

Williamson, O. E. (1985). The Economic Institutions of Capitalism. Free Press: New York.

Wooldridge, J. M. (2003). *Introductory Econometrics: A Modern Approach*. 2nd ed. Thomson South Western Publishers: Mason.